

# **ENERGY SECURITY IN THE BALTIC SEA REGION**

Transition within geopolitical constraints

This report is written by Veronika Slakaityte, research assistant, DIIS, Izabela Surwillo, postdoc, DIIS, and Trine Villumsen Berling, senior researcher, DIIS, and is published by DIIS.

DIIS · Danish Institute for International Studies Gl. Kalkbrænderi Vej 51A DK-2100 Copenhagen, Denmark Tel: +45 32 69 87 87 E-mail: diis@diis.dk www.diis.dk

Layout: Lone Ravnkilde Cover illustration and map: Cecilie Castor All tables are based on the following source: https://ourworldindata.org Printed in Denmark by Johansen Grafisk A/S All DIIS Reports are printed on Ecolabel and FSC certified paper

ISBN 978-87-7236-095-9 print ISBN 978-87-7236-096-6 pdf

DIIS publications can be downloaded free of charge or ordered from www.diis.dk © Copenhagen 2022, the authors and DIIS

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Executive summary	4
Abbreviations	6
Prefixes and units of power and energy used in the report	7
Introduction	9
Baltic Sea Region under the Magnifying Glass	13
Denmark: Oil/gas self-sufficiency and a wind adventure	15
Sweden: From oil to nuclear and hydro	21
Finland: Import quagmire and nuclear future	27
Estonia: Shale oil independence?	33
Latvia: Disentangling and unbundling	39
Lithuania: Small country thinking big	45
Poland: The carbon past and nuclear dreams	51
Germany: Caught in gas pipelines	57
Key dilemmas moving forward	61
Dilemma I: Interconnectedness in policy and infrastructure	61
Dilemma II: Green vs black energy	62
Dilemma III: Technological and political lock-ins	62
Dilemma IV: Speed, scale and competitiveness	63
Dilemma V: Political resilience and loss of momentum	64
Academic references	66
Other references	69

# **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

The Russian attack on Ukraine in February 2022 shook continental geopolitics and led to a major shift in EU energy policy. The necessary speed of the combined diversification away from the Russian energy sources, fossil fuel phase-out and mass scale-up of low-carbon energy and technologies are having a tremendous impact on European national economies and societies. The Baltic Sea Region is no exception. Baltic Sea energy politics currently paints a complicated picture of competing pipeline projects, sprouting new LNG terminals, plans to build nuclear power infrastructure, a race to develop new energy technologies and to increase the interconnectedness, and digitalisation of the electricity grids. These developments will transform the regional energy landscape for decades to come and have important security implications. This policy report provides a comprehensive overview of the energy security situation in the Baltic Sea Region, zooming in on eight country cases (Denmark, Sweden, Finland, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland and Germany). By locating the national energy policies in a historical context that shaped choices of energy infrastructure and technology, the analysis investigates how the energy policy and energy mix of each country was affected by cutting the energy ties with the Kremlin following the outbreak of war in 2022. The report looks into future investments in the energy sector that are meant to tackle the dual energyclimate crisis at the Baltic Sea. As the war in Ukraine and the European energy crisis are continuously unfolding, we conclude with five key points moving forward:

**Regional interconnectedness** of energy infrastructure and the development of a common energy policy approach will be crucial for building resilience in the Baltic Sea energy sector in the face of the unfolding energy crisis.

**Short-term versus long-term trade-offs**, such as the use of 'black' energy as a quick fix versus investments in green energy sources in line with climate goals, will be faced.

**Technological and political lock-ins** may be created by putting long-lifecycle energy infrastructure projects in place (eg pipelines, LNG terminals, NPPs) that risk creating new dependencies and hampering the green transition.

**Speed, scale and competitiveness** are all crucial in tackling the energy crisis and keeping the rise of global temperatures under 1.5°C; however, we may be counting on technology that is not invented or not yet ready for mass roll-out.

**Political resilience and possible loss of momentum**, as European businesses and consumers alike will increasingly feel the dire impact of the ongoing war in Ukraine and the energy crisis.

# **ABBREVIATIONS**

**3EP** Third Energy Package

BCM Billion cubic meters

- **BEMIP** Baltic Energy Market Interconnection Plan
- **BRELL** Belarus, Russia, Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania
- BSR Baltic Sea Region
- CEE Central and Eastern Europe
- CFB Circulating fluidised bed
- **CHPP** Combined heat and power plant
- CO2 Carbon dioxide
- DG Directorate General
- DH District heating
- ELLI Enhancement of Latvia-Lithuania Interconnector
- EU European Union
- FSRU Floating storage and regasification unit
- GHG Greenhouse gas
- **GIPL** Gas Interconnection Poland-Lithuania
- HPP Hydropower plant
- IEA International Energy Agency
- **ITO** Independent transmission operator
- LNG Liquefied natural gas
- NPP Nuclear power plant
- NS1 Nord Stream 1
- NS2 Nord Stream 2
- **OU** Ownership unbundling
- PCI Projects of common interest
- **RES** Renewable energy sources
- SMR Small modular reactor
- **UGS** Underground gas storage

# PREFIXES AND UNITS OF POWER AND ENERGY USED IN THE REPORT

Symbol	Name	Value	
Electricity/Power			
W(h)	Watt (hour)	10º W	1 W
kW(h)	Kilowatt (hour)	10 <sup>3</sup> W	1,000 W
MW(h)	Megawatt (hour)	10 <sup>6</sup> W	1,000,000 W
GW(h)	Gigawatt (hour)	10 <sup>9</sup> W	1,000,000,000 W
TW(h)	Terawatt (hour)	10 <sup>12</sup> W	1,000,000,000,000 W
Natural gas/LNG			
m <sup>3</sup>	Cubic meters	10º m <sup>3</sup>	1 m <sup>3</sup>
mcm (/y)	Million cubic meters (/per year)	10 <sup>6</sup> m <sup>3</sup>	1,000,000 m <sup>3</sup>
bcm(/y)	Billion cubic meters (/per year)	10 <sup>9</sup> m <sup>3</sup>	1,000,000,000 m <sup>3</sup>
Expression and com	parison of different sources		
toe	Tonne of oil equivalent	10° toe	1 toe
ktoe	Kilo-tonne of oil equivalent	10 <sup>3</sup> toe	1,000 toe

10<sup>6</sup> toe

1,000,000 toe

Mega-tonne of oil equivalent

mtoe

# INTRODUCTION

The Russian attack on Ukraine in February 2022 shook continental geopolitics and led to a major shift in EU energy policy. It also rapidly realigned the views on energy security across the Union. For many years there had been a discrepancy between Central and Eastern Europe, which largely perceived Moscow's use of fossil fuel exports as an instrument of political pressure, versus Western countries, such as Germany, which insisted on the economic dimension of EU-Russia energy cooperation. The latter appeared to be caught by surprise when Moscow employed energy blackmail and used its gas pipelines instrumentally after the outbreak of war. This time, the EU threat perceptions aligned and triggered a sequence of actions aimed at reducing the Russian war-financing income, especially generated by fossil fuel exports. The unprecedented Nord Stream 1 and 2 pipeline leaks recorded in late September 2022 further highlighted how energy belongs in the security domain. Although pending assessment, the evidence points to deliberate explosions.<sup>1</sup> Consequently, security has been tightened around critical energy infrastructure in several countries in the region. In the recent months, the EU energy policy approach towards Moscow has changed drastically, prioritising the security of energy supply and further complicating the EU green energy transition. The necessary speed of the combined diversification away from Russian energy sources, fossil fuel phase-out and mass scale-up of the low-carbon energy sources and technologies negatively impact European national economies and societies, and the Baltic Sea Region (BSR) is no exception. Here, the diversity of countries with historically shaped energy paths attempts to adjust their national energy plans to the challenging circumstances and strengthen cooperation in a joint bid to enhance regional energy security.

In 2021, the EU committed to a legally binding pledge to become a net-zero emitter by 2050, a goal enshrined in the European Climate Law. A set of policy initiatives approved in 2020 known as the European Green Deal serves as a roadmap leading to climate neutrality. Although labelled as an economic growth strategy, energy occupies centre stage, as energy production and use across economic sectors account for three-fourths of all EU greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. As noted by Commission President Ursula von der Leyen in October 2021: 'The European Green Deal is in the mid- and long-term a pillar of European energy sovereignty in the 21st century', but the role of natural gas as a transitional fuel alongside speeding up the transition to clean energy is crucial.<sup>2</sup> Although the classification of gas as a transitional fuel (and later as 'green' in the EU taxonomy) has been widely criticised since,<sup>3</sup> numerous European states designed their energy policies with a view to using natural gas in the medium term. The outbreak of war in Ukraine, which necessitated the phasing out of Russian fossil fuels (incl. oil, gas and coal), as well as acceleration of energy transition has complicated this task.

The EU responded with a number of policy moves to the developments in Ukraine and the energy crisis. Already in early March 2022, the International Energy Agency (IEA) published their 10-Point Plan for how to reduce EU dependence on Russian natural gas imports by one-third by the end of the year. Shortly thereafter, the European Commission's 'REPowerEU Communication' document suggested the complete eradication of EU dependence on Russian fossil fuels by 2030, with a particularly strong emphasis on natural gas. The plan states that two-thirds of Russian gas volumes can be replaced by the end of 2022, which is a volume equivalent to 100 bcm, that previously appeared in the 'Fit for 55' package as a target for 2030. It is important to stress that 'REPowerEU' does not suggest a simple replacement of Russian gas with other sources in the short-term, but rather a mix of measures combining other energy sources together with gas of other origins, most notably in a form of liquified natural gas (LNG). In mid-May, the 'REPowerEU Action Plan' further accelerated the deadlines and targets set in the 'Fit for 55' package, despite the initial objectives being criticised as overly ambitious even prior to the outbreak of the war. This meant that the binding energy efficiency measures increased from 9% to 13%, the share of renewables rose from 40% to 45%, whereas the industry and transport sectors, among others, were required to reduce natural gas consumption by an additional 35 bcm on top of the Fit-for-55 objectives.

Apart from the policy changes within the bloc, the EU also targeted Russian energy exports. Russian coal imports were banned from August 2022, while the sixth package of sanctions, adopted in June, bans seaborne oil imports by December 2022 and petroleum products by February 2023. Currently, oil sanctions remain partial, covering 30% of oil imports from Russia, however, once the seaborne oil restrictions come into effect, the coverage will extend to 90%.<sup>4</sup> Nonetheless, prominent exceptions (eg emergency oil purchases) remain intact due to strong opposition from some landlocked countries highly dependent on Russian oil. This does not bode well for the even more challenging accelerated phase-out and sanctioning of Russian gas imports to be negotiated between the Member States in the near-future.

This report takes stock of the most recent energy policy developments in Denmark, Sweden, Finland, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland and Germany, while placing them in the historical context that shaped national choices of energy infrastructure and technology. As energy policy still mostly remains an EU Member State prerogative, the report analyses how the national energy mix of each country was affected by cutting the energy ties with Moscow following the outbreak of war in 2022, and what future investments in the energy sector are meant to tackle the dual energy-climate crisis. The report can be read as a whole or as individual case studies. In the final section, we offer concluding thoughts regarding some of the major dilemmas that must be followed closely in the months and years to come.





# DENMARK: OIL/GAS SELF-SUFFICIENCY AND A WIND ADVENTURE

Although Denmark is known for high energy efficiency and low-carbon intensity, oil and natural gas has occupied an important part in its recent history. In the 1970s, Denmark was heavily reliant on oil, at peak points (1971-2) accounting for 93% percent of the overall energy mix, and it suffered severely from skyrocketing oil prices during the oil crisis sparked by OPEC in 1973. This shifted the focus towards the extraction of oil and gas in the Danish part of the North Sea.<sup>5</sup> In 1962, the Danish corporation Maersk was awarded a sole concession with rights to the Danish shelf, as doubts were high as to whether domestic production would be financially viable (Hahn-Petersen 1999). Systematic exploration of the Dan oilfield began in 1972, followed by operations in Gorm (1981), Skjold (1982), Tyra (1984) and Rolf (1986); the remaining oilfields were developed from the 1990s to the early 2000s.<sup>6</sup> Today, Denmark's oil and gas fields. Maersk sold its exclusive rights to French Total in 2018, marking an end to an era of Danish exclusivity on the Danish shelf.

Since the opening of the fields, the domestic oil production had been gradually increasing, peaking in the early- to mid-2000s; production levels thereafter expectedly fell and have been in sharp decline, dropping from 389,163 barrels per day in 2004 to 65,636 in 2021. The fields are nearly depleted and the infrastructure is aging.<sup>7</sup> Domestic natural gas production levels follow a similar trajectory: peaking in 2005 at 11.7 bcm/y and falling to 1.4 bcm/y in 2020 (an 88% drop).<sup>8</sup> While Denmark had been a net exporter of oil and natural gas in the period 1997-2018, it has more recently become a net oil importer. Also in relation to gas: Denmark stopped being self-sustaining in 2019 and became a gas importer due to maintenance work on Tyra, its biggest gas field.<sup>9</sup>

Several international gas pipeline projects have been presented to the Danish authorities over the past 15 years. Denmark was among the first countries in the region to accept the construction of the Nord Stream 1 (NS1) pipeline through the Danish maritime territory around the Baltic island of Bornholm. After the Russian annexation of Crimea in 2014, however, Danish sentiments changed, and the Nord Stream 2 (NS2) pipeline construction permit was stalled for nearly two and a half years. The Baltic Pipe adjoining Norwegian and Polish gas networks was processed more smoothly, despite the pipeline having been built over land across Denmark from Jutland to the island of Zealand. While the construction was delayed due to COVID-19, the interconnector has become operational in October 2022. The majority of gas imports to Denmark are thereafter expected to come from Norway.<sup>10</sup> While

### Table 1. Energy consumption by source in Denmark

Source	1990	2009	2021
Nuclear	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%
Gas	10.42%	20.75%	12.41%
Oil	53.24%	44.63%	39.77%
Hydropower	0.04%	0.02%	0.02%
Wind	0.89%	8.50%	22.49%
Other renewables	0.33%	4.80%	14.95%
Coal	35.07%	21.23%	6.88%
Solar	0.00%	0.00%	1.79%

#### Table 2. Share of electricity production by source in Denmark

Source	1990	2009	2021
Nuclear	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%
Gas	2.66%	18.33%	5.93%
Oil	3.46%	5.39%	3.89%
Hydropower	0.12%	0.06%	0.06%
Wind	2.35%	18.47%	47.84%
Other renewables	0.73%	9.13%	23.17%
Coal	90.69%	48.63%	15.09%
Solar	0.00%	0.00%	4.01%
Highest percentage	Second highest percentage	Third highest percentage	Fourth highest percentage

this interconnection further improves security of supply, less carbon-intensive forms of energy are prioritised. Notably, Denmark has been boosting biogas production at a staggering +2743% increase since 1990 to today.<sup>11</sup> In 2021, a record-high level of biogas was injected into the gas system, covering nearly one-fourth of domestic gas-consumption needs.<sup>12</sup>

#### Figure 1. Share of coal and oil in the Danish energy consumption



Source: Our World in Data based on BP Statistical Review of World Energy (2022)

Interestingly, the use of oil and coal are inversely correlated in Denmark:<sup>13</sup> increased oil consumption translates to reduced coal use; and vice versa. Although both have gradually decreased over the past three decades, this interplay continues (Figure 1). Coal had been the main source of energy for electricity generation until 2013 but has since lost out to booming wind energy production. In fact, the falling oil consumption is largely due to improved efficiency measures and an exponentially growing share of renewable energy.<sup>14</sup>

Since 2011, Denmark has been a net importer of electricity from Sweden, Norway, Germany and the Netherlands.<sup>15</sup> Domestic electricity generation has been decreasing since the mid-1990s, falling from 10,196 KWh in 1996 to 5,744 KWh in 2021.<sup>16</sup> The total output has fallen following the decarbonisation strategy, yet the share of renewable energy in the mix has blossomed (Table 2). Meanwhile, nuclear energy is practically a taboo in Denmark. Having met substantial popular resistance in the 1970s-80s, the Danish government passed two decisive laws in the spring of 1985 that ruled nuclear energy out of public energy planning, and this sentiment was

cemented further after the Chernobyl disaster the following year (Chr. Sidenius 1986). These decisions have stood to this day. Nevertheless, the eastern part of Denmark imports electricity from Sweden, roughly 40% of which is of nuclear origin.<sup>17</sup>

Wind has a long history in Denmark and has arguably become the global brand of the country. The Danish state has subsidised electricity produced by wind turbines since 1976, and state subsidies played a major role in rendering wind energy financially viable.<sup>18</sup> The share of total electricity production from wind has risen from 2.35% in 1990 to 47.84% today (Table 2). While the first turbines were land-based, offshore wind has more recently taken primacy. After the outbreak of war in Ukraine, the Danish government sped up the roll-out of the green transition and is currently planning to increase solar and onshore wind energy fourfold by 2030.<sup>19</sup> This constitutes a major shift.

At the same time, the ambitious Danish mega-project of 'energy islands' in the North and Baltic Seas has been pushed ahead of the original schedule. While the project was largely marketed as part of the green transition, the geopolitical impact is palpable. The first energy island in the North Sea will be an artificially constructed island 100 km off the coast of Jutland, which will serve as a hub for 200 offshore wind turbines with a capacity of 3 GW. Eventually reaching a capacity of 10 GW, the power hub will provide energy for ten million households.<sup>20</sup> It will be the biggest construction project in Danish history, costing an estimated EUR 28bn. In late August 2022, cabinet ministers from several BSR countries met in Denmark to plan for an additional energy island on Bornholm in the Baltic Sea.<sup>21</sup> In the long-term, these offshore energy hubs are envisioned to operate under the power-to-x model, which enables green hydrogen production from surplus wind energy that is not otherwise possible to store (Johansen 2021).

Following the outbreak of the Russo-Ukrainian War, the Danish government presented its vision for how Denmark can simultaneously become less dependent on Russian gas and accelerate the green transition; a vision which formally merges energy/climate and security politics. Denmark will focus on excluding gas from central heating and wean 430,000 households off of Russian natural gas by installing district heating or heat pumps in private houses while boosting gas extraction in the Danish North Sea.<sup>22</sup> Land-based wind and solar projects, regional cooperation on energy islands, and major wind parks will further accelerate the green transition. The North Sea Declaration from May 2022 underlined this, stating that the North Sea will become Europe's green battery.<sup>23</sup>

Denmark is often addressed as one of the leading countries in the net-zero transition. With strong renewable-energy convictions, Danish climate-change-mitigation policies are driven by both national targets and international climate obligations. Some of the ambitious national projects can be traced to the island of Bornholm, which has been a leader in developing renewable energy. In a similar manner, the City of Copenhagen announced an ambitious target in 2012 of becoming the first carbon-neutral city by 2025.24 However, despite significant improvements in the implementation of renewables and energy efficiency measures, much hope has been invested in carbon capture technology, which has yet to be rolled out. This shortfall has raised questions regarding the attainability of national carbon-neutral targets; not just in the capital region but on the national scale in general. With the phase-out deadline for oil and gas extraction set to 2050, the scepticism has increased especially since the current energy crisis has not only accelerated the sustainable transition but also evoked concerns over increasing oil and gas production volumes, as well as moving some offshore wind projects on-land. Although Denmark is not heavily dependent on Russia, the current energy crisis has repercussions for the Danish energy transition, as it extends its fossil fuel phase-out timeframe and affects the economy and society with record-high energy prices.<sup>25</sup> Despite low dependency on Russian fossils, the security dimension of the crisis has been further amplified following the Nord Stream 1 and 2 natural gas pipeline leaks in the Danish and Swedish exclusive economic zones in the Baltic Sea in late September 2022. While the pipelines were not in operation, the suspected sabotage caused by explosions registered by the seismic systems elevated the protection of critical energy infrastructure in Denmark and across Europe in fear of further escalations.<sup>26</sup>



### SWEDEN: FROM OIL TO NUCLEAR AND HYDRO

Despite being an energy-intensive country, Sweden has been pioneering the way towards low-carbon economy for years.<sup>27</sup> With a low share of fossil fuels in the primary energy mix (28%), the near-complete decarbonisation of heating and electricity and high energy efficiency has been achieved through electrification and district heating, Sweden is leading the way to climate neutrality.<sup>28</sup> However, this has not always been the case. Sweden used to be heavily dependent on oil, which at times accounted for as much as 70% (1970) of the overall energy consumption. Generally, the share of oil has been decreasing from 419 TWh in 1979 to 149 TWh in 2021, which translates to a 64% reduction over 43 years.<sup>29</sup>

The years 1973-5 mark an important energy policy shift in Sweden, where oil consumption was largely replaced by nuclear energy (Vedung 2001). The development of nuclear energy in Sweden was historically entangled with security considerations related to Sweden's status as a neutral country during the Cold War. The policy stretches back to the decades immediately after the Second World War, when the Swedish government found that acquiring nuclear weapons might be the best solution to ensure national security. The nuclear weaponry plans were abandoned in 1966, and civilian nuclear energy generation took over. At the same time, nuclear energy plans were supported by the parliament without raising significant opposition from society. This can be attributed to two reasons: energy policies at the time were handled by a small circle of experts and a few politicians, which also led to little media coverage and limited public debate (Holmberg and Hedberg 2017). The unity on the nuclear questions ended with the newly elected parliament in 1973, when the nuclear expansion issue was politicised and further intensified by the global oil crisis. This time, the public opposition to nuclear power grew. After a referendum in March 1980, decision was taken not to plan for new reactors and to phase out nuclear energy.<sup>30</sup>

There were 12 reactors in Sweden before 2005, but two of these reactors (in Barsebäck), were decommissioned in 1999 and 2005, partly in response to pressure from Denmark.<sup>31</sup> The share of energy generated using nuclear technologies has been gradually decreasing since 2005. Four more reactors were shut down by 2020.<sup>32</sup> which furthered the drop in the nuclear share in electricity generation.<sup>33</sup> Today, nuclear energy in Sweden is produced by six operating nuclear reactors in three nuclear power plants: Ringhals, Oskarshamn and Forsmark. The Swedish reactors are owned and operated by Vattenfall (state-owned), and private utilities

include Uniper SE (formerly E.ON Sweden) and Fortum Sweden (majority-stateowned by the Finnish government). Nuclear energy accounts for one third of the electricity generation, corresponding to 53 TWh in 2021.<sup>34</sup>

Apart from nuclear energy, one of the most notable aspects of the Swedish energy profile is the high share of renewable energy in the final energy consumption (see Table 3). In 2021, nearly half of the energy generated in Sweden came from renewable sources (hydro, wind, solar and other RES).

#### Table 3. Share of energy consumption by source in Sweden

Source	1990	2009	2021
Nuclear	28.36%	23.84%	21.01%
Gas	0.88%	1.96%	2.06%
Oil	33.38%	31.09%	23.53%
Hydropower	31.42%	31.15%	29.47%
Wind	0.00%	1.18%	11.26%
Other renewables	0.91%	6.24%	6.71%
Coal	5.05%	3.96%	2.48%
Solar	0.00%	0.00%	0.60%
Highest percentage	Second highest percentage	Third highest percentage	Fourth highest percentage

Hydropower is especially important in the Swedish energy mix – for the past 30 years, it has steadily stood at around 30% of the overall share – and continues to be a cornerstone of Swedish energy policy.<sup>35</sup> Interestingly, the hydro projects were initiated during the two World Wars, which restricted coal imports and pushed the country to seek alternatives (Kander and Stern 2014). Most working hydropower plants were built between 1950 and 1970. Today, Sweden has around 1,800 hydropower plants, some of which produce as much electricity as a nuclear power plant (eg Harsprunget by Luleå). 80% of the hydropower plants are in the northernmost parts of Sweden.

The new National Strategy of 2014 issued a call for improved ecological status for hydropower.<sup>36</sup> The primary concern in the new legislation (2019) points to compensation for loss of commercial fishing and restoration of damaged freshwater

ecosystems. The hydropower is increasingly being regulated by national laws, such as the Swedish Environmental Code and Environmental Quality Objectives,<sup>37</sup> together with the EU directives that apply to the hydropower plant license reviews (Rudberg et al. 2015). However, the restoration of rivers often reduces the water availability required for power production, which has led to delays in the restorations to date. With the environmental accountability practices being increasingly enforced, the restoration is expected to be accelerated and may further reduce the hydropower generation volumes.

#### Table 4. Share of electricity production by source in Sweden

Source	1990	2009	2021
Nuclear	46.70%	38.19%	31.24%
Gas	0.29%	1.14%	0.06%
Oil	1.27%	1.87%	1.37%
Hydropower	49.66%	48.21%	42.97%
Wind	0.01%	1.82%	15.96%
Other renewables	1.33%	8.39%	7.79%
Coal	0.74%	0.37%	0.00%
Solar	0.00%	0.01%	0.61%
Highest percentage	Second highest percentage	Third highest percentage	Fourth highest percentage

Over the last decade, Sweden has also increased its share of wind-generated electricity to 15.96% in 2021 (Table 4). Between 2019 and 2020 alone, wind-generated electricity increased by 40%.<sup>38</sup> The wind farms are mostly land-based, as on at least two occasions offshore wind projects have been rejected by the Swedish armed forces: Taggen, because it was allegedly too close to a shooting range, and Blekinge Offshore AG, because it was in an area of strategic importance. The armed forces cited the growing threat from Russia as reason to refrain from proceeding with the project.<sup>39</sup>

In 2021, Hydro Rein and Eolus entered a partnership to develop nine onshore wind projects with a combined capacity of 672 MW to be commissioned by 2027-32.<sup>40</sup> Today, Sweden has six offshore wind farms in operation, and more are planned.<sup>41</sup> In May 2022, the Swedish Government approved Kriegers Flak,<sup>42</sup> and an application for project Aurora was sent to the Swedish authorities in June.<sup>43</sup> This offshore Baltic

Sea wind project is expected to enter commercial operation in 2030. With an expected combined capacity of 5,500 MW, this is potentially the largest wind farm in the world.<sup>44</sup>

In 2020, Sweden was the tenth largest exporter of electricity in the world, with primary destinations including Finland, Denmark, Lithuania, Poland, and Germany.<sup>45</sup> The liberalisation of the Swedish electricity market proceeded in two stages: in 1992, the transmission system operator (TSO) was unbundled, while the distribution system operator (DSO) finalised unbundling in 1996, at the same time that Sweden became a part of the Nordic electricity market (Wilkens and Johansson 2010). While the legal basis for unbundling was introduced in the Electricity Act of 1998, the Act has since been amended to correspond to the latest EU directives, including the Third Energy Package.<sup>46</sup>

When it comes to fossil fuel energy, Sweden is a net importer. Having no proven oil and gas reserves, the country imports most of its oil from Norway (65%) and fundamentally relies on a single gas pipe connection with Denmark.<sup>47</sup> Yet gas has not been consistently considered a security issue in Sweden. In fact, during the negotiations over Nord Stream 2 (NS2), the gas pipeline project was not handled in the same way across the country. Gotland – the preferred storage location for pipes for NS2 – refused to let the company use the island for these purposes, citing security issue and signed a deal for the temporary storage of pipeline construction materials. National legislation was later changed.<sup>48</sup>

According to a statement by the Swedish government in March 2022, around half of the imported gas supply may come from Russia.<sup>49</sup> Ironically, this gas most likely came through Nord Stream 1 (NS1). However, gas only accounts for around 2% of the final energy consumption and oil for around 23% (Table 3). Most of the gas is used in industry (57%), whereas most of the oil is used for transport (58%) and industry (23%).<sup>50</sup> Although gas represents a low share of the total primary energy supply at the country level, it covers one fifth of the total consumed energy in the west coast area.<sup>51</sup> The gas supply is somewhat diversified through two LNG terminals in Lysekil (built in 2011) and Nynäshamn (2014), owned by Finnish Gasum, with a combined storage capacity of 50,000 m<sup>3</sup> of LNG. However, neither of the terminals are connected to the gas network and serve commercial users only. There are plans to introduce four more small-scale LNG terminals in Gävle, Åhus and

Gothenburg.<sup>52</sup> Since Sweden has a single natural gas storage facility that covers only 8% of the national gas consumption,<sup>53</sup> seasonal swings in gas consumption are balanced by the Danish storage facilities.<sup>54</sup>

In an attempt to enhance security of supply, Sweden is also investing in biogas. This is intended to eventually replace gas altogether, as it can be injected into the natural gas pipelines with no technical impact on gas users.<sup>55</sup> Since the development of biogas is consistent with Swedish decarbonisation objectives, support schemes such as exemptions for energy and  $CO_2$  taxes are offered for biogas use in transport and heating.

Being a net exporter of electricity with a low share of gas in the national energy mix and the majority of oil imports covered by Norway, Sweden's energy sector and policy have not undergone major shifts following the war in Ukraine; with one notable exception. Recently, a series of gigawatt-scale project announcements were issued for offshore wind farm development in the second half of the decade, totalling a combined capacity of 90 GW by 2032.<sup>56</sup> With the war-affected economy, despite being a net exporter, Sweden is experiencing one of the highest increases in electricity prices. The soaring prices are blamed on the premature phasing out of nuclear power, leading to pre-election proposals to subsidise new nuclear power plants.<sup>57</sup> With nuclear and hydro power generation falling under the EU green taxonomy and the multiple wind park projects envisioned in the near future, Sweden remains on track to reach its net-zero targets. Nevertheless, access to nuclear fuel and radioactive waste disposal continue to raise questions worth further investigation. Furthermore, dependence on natural gas that is supplied through a single pipeline connection from Denmark raises security of supply concerns related to the physical reliability of the infrastructure and potential failure. In this context, the Nord Stream 1 and 2 natural gas leaks in the Swedish and Danish exclusive economic zones in the Baltic Sea in late September 2022 raised high security alerts and increased security measures to be placed around critical energy infrastructure. In a joint letter to the President of the Security Council, the countries concluded that all evidence points to the explosions being deliberate acts which endanger international security.<sup>58</sup> These events show a fundamental change in the perception of threat and potential escalation of conflict in Europe. The Russo-Ukrainian War triggered a fundamental shift in the Swedish position, which is best exemplified by the decision to join NATO and to break its neutral status by supplying weapons to Ukraine.



# FINLAND: IMPORT QUAGMIRE AND NUCLEAR FUTURE

Finland's history has been heavily influenced by its eastern neighbour. In the 1940s, Finland and Russia entered into war twice (Gordon Dickinson 2003). In November 1939, the Soviet Union started the Russo-Finnish War (aka. The Winter War), which eventually resulted in the Treaty of Moscow (1940), leading to the construction of a Soviet naval base on Finnish territory and the cession of Western Karelia.<sup>59</sup> In 1941, Finland entered the Continuation War as a cobelligerent with Germany, which resulted in more lost territories. This Russo-Finnish conflict was settled with the 1947 Paris Peace Treaties. Since then, a pro-Russian Agreement of Friendship, Cooperation, and Mutual Assistance<sup>60</sup> was signed by the two parties, including a mutual defence clause (Hannikainen 2020). At the same time, Finland distanced itself from neighbouring Sweden while maintaining good trade ties with the Soviet Union, which enabled the country to access cheap energy and raw materials. Consequently, Finland was not hit by the oil crises in the 1970s, whereas it was hit hard by the dissolution of the Soviet Union. Finland became a full EU member in 1995.<sup>61</sup>

Finland's cold climate and energy-intensive industry make it one of the most energyintensive countries in the world (Jääskeläinen et al. 2018). Although the consumption of primary energy is now re-approaching 1990 levels, with annual consumption stabilising at 322 TWh, in the early- to mid-2000s energy consumption rocketed to  $\pm$ 390 TWh.<sup>62</sup> The recent decline in primary energy consumption can be explained by improved energy efficiency measures and an increasing share of low-carbon and renewable energy sources that currently account for 53% and 34%, respectively (Ibid.). Nevertheless, due to the absence of significant domestic reservoirs of fossil fuels and uranium (used to power the nuclear reactors), Finland remains dependent on imports (Jääskeläinen et al. 2018: 1-2). Russia is a major supplier, covering 34% of the total Finnish energy consumption in 2021 with sources such as wood, oil, nuclear, coal, gas and net electricity. Natural gas, in particular, showcased a high dependence on imports from Russia, standing at 92% in 2021.<sup>63</sup>

While this high dependency sparked concerns in the Finnish domestic debate about the potential use of energy as an instrument of political pressure by Moscow, the arguments of economic cooperation and increasing interdependence prevailed both in the Finnish public sphere and in strategic energy documents (Jääskeläinen et al. 2018: 10). The economic rationale was appealing, as Finland had not experienced any significant energy supply disruptions prior to the electricity and gas cut-offs in the spring of 2022.<sup>64</sup> Following the Third Gas Directive (3EP) in 2009, Finland sought derogation, as the country's gas network was not connected with any other Member

State and remained highly dependent on a single (>75%) supplier (Jankauskas 2015). Until 2019, the Finnish natural gas market was restricted to one operator (Gasum) in charge of the transmission and sale of gas on the domestic market, and a sole supplier (Gazprom).<sup>65</sup> Through a partial demerger<sup>66</sup> in 2020, GasGrid Finland legally unbundled from Gasum and has been operating the domestic gas system ever since (Zemite et al. 2021). However, the country still lacked sufficient alternative routes of supply and gas storage capacity.<sup>67</sup> In this respect, the launching of the bidirectional Balticconnector pipeline in 2020 was of crucial significance (Klemetti and Mäkinen 2021). This link, adjoining Finnish and Estonian markets, initiated the creation of a common gas market with the Baltic States and broke Finland's isolation

#### Table 5. Share of energy consumption by source in Finland

Source	1990	2009	2021
Nuclear	16,77%	18,64%	18,60%
Gas	7,81%	10,93%	6,35%
Oil	41,40%	32,99%	30,23%
Hydropower	9,95%	10,37%	12,77%
Wind	0,00%	0,23%	6,68%
Other renewables	5,10%	8,16%	13,49%
Coal	18,98%	18,27%	10,22%
Solar	<0,01%	<0,01%	0,25%

#### Table 6. Share of electricity production by source in Finland

Source	1990	2009	2021
Nuclear	35,34%	32,78%	32,75%
Gas	8,57%	13,68%	4,95%
Oil	8,88%	7,80%	5,93%
Hydropower	19,97%	17,68%	21,79%
Wind	0,00%	0,39%	11,37%
Other renewables	9,49%	12,16%	18,79%
Coal	17,76%	15,51%	4,04%
Solar	0,00%	0,00%	0,39%
Highest percentage	Second highest percentage	Third highest percentage	Fourth highest percentage

by enabling access to the Inčukalns underground gas storage (UGS) in Latvia and the LNG terminal in Lithuania. The GIPL interconnector from 2022 between Poland and Lithuania further extended the diversification possibilities for Finland and the region at large.<sup>68</sup>

The new political context in the aftermath of the Russian invasion of Ukraine also accelerated other gas diversification projects. Finland already had a small commercial LNG terminal, Gasum, opened in Pori in 2016 with a 28,500 m<sup>3</sup> capacity LNG, and the Manga terminal in Tornio operational since 2019 with a yearly capacity 50,000 m<sup>3</sup> (Klemetti and Mäkinen 2021: 292; Savickis et al. 2021: 53). Both terminals supply industrial consumers and are not connected to the grid (Savickis et al. 2021). Following the outbreak of the Russo-Ukrainian war in 2022, the previously delayed Hamina LNG terminal (with 30,000 m<sup>3</sup> LNG storage capacity) is scheduled to start commercial operations in October 2022. The terminal is connected to the Finnish gas transmission system (Ibid.). In April 2022, Finland also announced plans to construct infrastructure for its first floating storage and regasification unit (FSRU) west of Helsinki in proximity to the Balticconnector. The FSRU is to be leased jointly with Estonia in a bid to make both countries more independent of Russian gas. The terminal is scheduled to open in the winter of 2022/3.<sup>69</sup>

On 21 May 2022, Russia cut off the gas supply to Finland after the Finns refused to pay in roubles. The incident was manageable for the Finnish side for several reasons. First, gas amounts to a mere 6.35% of total domestic energy consumption and less than 5% of electricity generation in Finland (Tables 5, 6). The consumption of gas in Finland fell significantly in the last decade (from 41TWh in 2010 to 20 TWh in 2021) due to the increasing taxes on natural gas and less use of gas in electricity production. As opposed to many Central and Eastern European (CEE) states, household gas consumption is marginal in Finland, as gas is mostly used by industrial customers (nearly 60%) and for energy generation (nearly 40%) (Klemetti and Mäkinen 2021: 278). Moreover, after the record-high gas prices in winter 2021-2, many individual consumers in Finland replaced gas with electric heating or wood stoves, while most commercial consumers have kept alternative fuel sources that can be used immediately instead of gas in the case of supply disruptions. As of mid-2022, Finland was importing gas mostly through the Balticconnector, largely supplied by the LNG terminal in Klaipėda, Lithuania.

The gas cut-off episode was preceded by Russia also stopping the supply of electricity to Finland, with both events following Finland's announced application for NATO membership.<sup>70</sup> Yet Finland's security of electricity supply is not at risk,

as sufficient grid interlinks are established with Sweden, Estonia and Norway. Furthermore, while imports covered up to 20% of consumed electricity in Finland prior to the Russian cut-off, the country is expected to become self-sufficient in electricity generation by 2023-4 once the Olkiluoto 3 nuclear power plant is completed later this year and wind capacity is boosted to meet the remaining domestic demand.<sup>71</sup> Wind power generation has grown steadily in Finland in recent years and exceeded 11% in 2021 (Table 6). With many onshore wind projects, the Finnish government also announced in 2021 its plans to build two large-scale offshore wind farms. The expansion of the existing Tahkoluoto wind farm (42 MW) with up to 45 turbines (11-20 MW each) could boost its capacity up to 900MW.

The expansion of nuclear and wind power is also in line with the Finish Parliament decision from 2019 to become carbon-neutral by 2035.72 The long-term energy policy envisions a phase-out of coal (by 2029), the commissioning of new nuclear power reactors, and the extension of the operating lifetimes of the existing ones. Currently, Finland has five operating nuclear reactors, while Olkiluoto 3 will start commercial operation in late 2022. The construction of the sixth nuclear reactor, Hanhikivi 1, scheduled for commercial operation by 2029, was cancelled following the Russian invasion of Ukraine. Russian co-ownership of the Fennovoima nuclear power company in charge of the project established jointly by Rosatom and a consortium of Finnish state-owned power and industrial companies was previously criticised by some parliamentarians, environmentalists and general public.73 Nonetheless, the project received parliamentary approval. It was first in March 2021 that the Ministry of Defence called for a risk assessment, including the geopolitical risks associated with the role of the Russian state-owned company.<sup>74</sup> Furthermore, concerns over supply were risen as the country had planned to purchase uranium from Russia for ten years after the completion of Hanhikivi 1.

Following the outbreak of war in Ukraine, Finland decided not to grant a construction permit to the project, and Fennovoima announced in May 2022 the termination of the engineering, procurement and construction (EPC) contract with Rosatom's RAOS Project subsidiary. Additionally, Finland is also currently exploring the potential use of small modular reactors (SMRs) for district heating and electricity generation.<sup>75</sup>

The outbreak of war in Ukraine radically changed Finland's relations with Russia, as perhaps best illustrated by the decision to join NATO. When it comes to energy, despite being an energy-intensive country, Finland's electricity needs are to be covered in the near future by domestic generation based on nuclear expansion and large-scale wind farm projects that are in line with the national climate neutrality targets to be achieved by 2035. The war has also accelerated the implementation of a joint LNG terminal project with Estonia, which will cover the marginal domestic natural gas demand by the end of 2022. The increasing gas prices in the winter of 2021/2 had pushed Finns to shift towards wood stoves and electric heating for heating and are expected to further accelerate in the winter to come. With most electricity being generated in nuclear power plants, the security of supply of the nuclear fuels and radioactive waste disposal remain an issue.



## **ESTONIA: SHALE OIL INDEPENDENCE?**

In 1991, the Estonian Soviet Socialist Republic declared independence and started paving the way towards EU and NATO memberships. The general anti-Russian political sentiment has also created friction in the energy sector. Estonia has been subjected to both verbal threats and energy supply disruptions. Russian Minister of Foreign Affairs (1992-4) Vitaly Churkin regarded the supply closures to Estonia in 1993 as a foreign policy instrument, and Director of Foreign Intelligence Service (1991-6) and Prime Minister (1998-9) Yevgeny Primakov threatened halting supply in 1995, 1996 and 1997 (Grigas 2013; Lehotský 2015). The politically driven manipulations of supply occurred in the winter of 1992/3 by limiting oil streams and when the gas supply was curbed in the summer of 1993 (Collins 2017; Grigas 2012). In 1992 and 1993, the former Soviet army was still present in Estonia, and tensions with Moscow were high. Even though natural gas is relatively insignificant in the Estonian energy mix (Table 7), it still played an important role in the relation to Russia. When the national gas company Gas Eesti was undergoing privatisation, 30% of the shares were sold to Gazprom, partly in the hope of cushioning the escalation of further conflicts, while the remaining 70% was held by the Estonian state. The company was further privatised throughout the 1990s, state shares being sold to Ruhrgas, Itera Latvija, Fortum Oil and Gas and other private investors (>2%) (Grigas 2012). Notably, around one quarter of the Estonian population self-identify as ethnic Russians,<sup>76</sup> and tensions with Moscow therefore intensified further over Estonian language requirements linked to the acquisition of citizenship (Ibid.).

#### Table 7. Share of energy consumption by source in Estonia

Source	1990	2009	2021
Nuclear	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%
Gas	11.14%	10.40%	7.37%
Oil	32.41%	27.23%	25.86%
Hydropower	0.00%	0.15%	0.12%
Wind	0.00%	0.93%	2.95%
Other renewables	0.00%	1.71%	10.25%
Coal	56.45%	59.55%	51.80%
Solar	0.00%	<0.01%	1.00%
Highest percentage	Second highest percentage	Third highest percentage	Fourth highest percentage

ENERGY SECURITY IN THE BALTIC SEA REGION

Although Gazprom's official reasoning addressed the interrupted supply as a reaction to unpaid debts, the cut-off directly coincided with the domestic policy changes (Lehotský 2015).

A significant share of Estonian energy is generated from shale oil, which is often combined with coal in primary energy statistics.<sup>77</sup> Table 7 illustrates how, in the period 1990-2021, coal and shale oil combined to account for over half of the overall energy consumption. The domestic production of shale oil enabled Estonia to remain relatively self-sufficient, and production increased steadily from the late 1990s until 2018. Notably, the overall domestic energy production levels approached 5.9 Mtoe, which translates to an increase of 39% over one decade: almost entirely from oil shale (72%) and bioenergy from waste (27%) (Brandt, Boak, and Burnham 2010). At the same time, the primary energy consumption levels in the years from 1990 to 2021 dropped by 48%, from 128 to 66 TWh per year.<sup>78</sup>

While shale oil serves as a guarantor of energy security, there are significant environmental concerns in relation to its extraction and burning. Mining necessitates an exorbitant use of water that is subsequently difficult to purify due to the chemicals used in the process, resulting in residual air pollution and large amounts of waste.

As for the use of oil shale, around 30% goes to electricity and 70% to heating. The electricity generation from this source discharges more  $CO_2$  than any other primary fuel (Figure 2). The emission factor for shale oil stands at 1,110 g of  $CO_2$  equivalent per kWh, while coal stands at 820, biomass co-firing at 740, natural gas at 490 and biomass at 230 g $CO_2$ / kWh.<sup>79</sup> This means that oil shale emits 26% more  $CO_2$  than coal, making it the most polluting source of energy with substantial exhaust of fly ash.

The liberalisation of the electricity market in Estonia was particularly shaped by the two EU Energy Packages (2003 and 2009). While the electricity market deregulation gradually started in 1997, followed by the two packages, Estonia eventually opened the electricity market to all consumers by 2013<sup>80</sup> (Elere and Loorits 2013). With the interconnectors with Finland-Estlink I completed in 2006, Estlink II operational since 2014, and the third Estonian-Latvian connector completed in 2020, the electricity market is maturing.<sup>81</sup>

As most heating in Estonia is produced using oil shale, natural gas represents only 7.37% in the national energy mix (Table 7). Although the share is small, Estonia was until recently 100%-dependent on Russian gas imports, Gazprom being the sole

#### Figure 2. Emissions in electricity production by source



Sources: https://www.world-nuclear.org/information-library/energy-and-the-environment/carbon-dioxide-emissions-from-electricity.aspx https://www.iea.org/reports/energy-policies-of-iea-countries-estonia-2019-review

supplier until 2015. While connected to the Russian and Latvian gas transmission systems, the Estonian gas market was insufficiently linked to other markets and therefore regarded as an 'energy island'. This enabled the country to seek derogation in the Third Energy Package (3EP) like neighbouring Latvia. From 2012, the Estonian energy policy approach leaned towards the full ownership unbundling (OU) model, which separates suppliers and operators in the network. The government passed an amendment to the Natural Gas Act,82 which obliged Eesti Gaas to detach the gas distribution utility by 2013 and unbundle the ownership by 2015. Until 2014, however, Estonia sought a derogation from the 3EP through the so-called independent transmission operator (ITO) model. The latter enables gas system ownership and operations to remain integrated but binds the energy companies in charge by a set of rules ensuring that activities are carried out independently.83 This was the most favourable option to Gazprom, and some analysts reported that Estonia was offered discounted gas rates in return for the delay of unbundling procedures (Grigas et al. 2013). The 'energy island' status was lost when operations were initiated from the Lithuanian LNG terminal Independence (operational since 2014) supplying Estonia via Latvia.<sup>84</sup> The ownership unbundling was completed in March 2016, when the gas transmission system operations were transferred to Elering, a public entity.85

Advancing the interconnectedness of the gas network has been a central element in the energy policy agenda for the past decade. Among the most important projects for the national gas market development are the enhancement of the Estonian-Latvian interconnector and the bidirectional Balticconector,<sup>86</sup> interlinking the Finnish and Estonian markets.<sup>87</sup> Other means of opening the national gas market were being discussed as early as in 2007, when the Lithuanian National Energy Strategy indicated a potential feasibility study for a regional LNG terminal together with experts from Estonia, Latvia and Poland. In 2009, the first Baltic Energy Market Interconnection Plan (BEMIP) concluded that the regional scope does not call for more than one terminal and eventually proposed several potential sites for developing the infrastructure.<sup>89</sup> The negotiations were slow, however, and the LNG Independence became operational in Lithuania in the meantime. Two national LNG projects were proposed to be built by 2015 with an intended capacity of 2.5 bcm, but neither of them came to fruition (Pakalkaite and Rosaner 2018). Although the general planning of the Paldiski LNG terminal started in 2010,90 it was not before the war in Ukraine that the project truly gained momentum. In April 2022, Estonia joined forces with Finland to jointly rent the large-scale floating storage and regasification unit (FSRU). The two-stage construction of the Paldiski LNG terminal requires substantial on-ground preparation and an additional pipeline connection to the Balticconnector (to be completed by November 2022). Eventually, a more permanent FSRU solution is expected.<sup>91</sup> As per the latest cooperation agreement between the two countries, the FSRU may be located on the Estonian side before the necessary infrastructure is completed in Finland. The FSRU Exemplar is leased for ten years and will enable a 5 bcm/y capacity.92 Another LNG terminal project, Tallinn LNG, has been under development since 2012, with the principal technical design confirmed in 2015 and full planning procedure completed in 2019. With the planned initial capacity of 0.5 bcm/y and eventual expansion to 4 bcm/y, the project development is currently stalled.93

With a large share of the Estonian energy mix being covered by fossil fuels that are incompatible with the climate agenda and shall be increasingly phased out to meet CO<sub>2</sub>-reduction targets, focus has also turned to renewable energy sources. When it comes to boosting the share of renewables in the national energy mix, the strongest potential lies in bioenergy-based combined heat and power generation, wind energy and biomethane, which can be used to replace natural gas. In support of the latter, a EUR 38.5mn national subsidy scheme has been developed to promote domestic biomethane production. In addition, small-scale hydro and solar energy projects are currently under development.<sup>94</sup> Solar and wind-energy production are expected to quadruple in the decade to come.<sup>95</sup> Furthermore, Estonia is planning to include

nuclear in its future energy mix. In 2021, a nuclear energy working group was established by the government, and Estonia and the US signed a strategic cooperation agreement in 2022 to develop nuclear capacity using small modular reactor (SMR) technology.<sup>96</sup> The project is being developed by a private company, Fermi Energia, claiming that state support is not necessary, although construction of just one reactor amounts to approximately EUR one billion, and the intent is to build four. One such reactor produces 300 MW, which would cover 20-25% of Estonia's electricity needs. Importantly, developing nuclear capacity in Estonia also sets foundations for blue hydrogen production.<sup>97</sup> The first reactor is expected to become operational in 2032.<sup>98</sup>

The war in Ukraine and the subsequent energy crisis have proven the interconnection plans adjoining Estonian gas and electricity networks extremely timely. With new infrastructure projects (eg the joint LNG terminal with Finland, a national terminal in Tallin), SMRs and mass deployment of solar and wind infrastructure, the Estonian market is shifting towards a green(er) future. As of today, however, shale oil remains the primary source of energy, which places Estonia as the OECD's most carbon-intensive economy. <sup>99</sup> Although the government has declared plans to phase out oil shale electricity by 2035 and production of shale oil by 2040,<sup>100</sup> drastic changes in the energy sector are needed to reach climate-neutrality targets.



## LATVIA: DISENTANGLING AND UNBUNDLING

Following the collapse of the USSR, Latvia gained full independence in 1991, <sup>101</sup> but nevertheless remained dependent on primary energy imports from supply monopolies and locked in old infrastructure, such as the electric power system (BRELL) operated in a synchronous mode with Russia and Belarus.<sup>102</sup> Reducing energy dependence (and, hence, boosting energy security) has been on the political agenda for decades. However, the actual energy policies have been inconsistent (Sprūds 2010). Even though the country experienced several energy blackmail episodes (eg petroleum product delivery disruptions, crude oil supply interruptions via the Russian Druzhba ('Friendship') pipeline since 2006), the measures remained largely reactive.

From the 1990s to mid-2000s, Latvian efforts focused on accession to the EU and NATO. Policy then shifted to increasing energy efficiency measures, which enabled the reduction in net import energy dependence from 90% in 1991 (Sprūds 2010) to 47% in 2016.<sup>103</sup> While the shares of energy sources consumed in the 1990-2021 period do not display large pattern changes – with oil occupying the primary role and gas a close second (Table 8) – the actual energy consumption dropped from 7414 ktoe in 1991 to 4277 ktoe in 2020, which is a 41% reduction.<sup>104</sup>

Although Latvia is short on domestic energy and entirely dependent on imports of sources such as oil and natural gas, one source of energy – hydropower – stands out in the Latvian energy mix (Tables 8, 9). Electricity generation is dominated by large-scale, Soviet-era (operational since 1979) hydropower plants (HPPs) built alongside Dauguva, the largest river in Latvia (Kasiulis et al. 2020). Instead of producing negative lock-in effects, the HPPs, classified as one of the greenest energy generation technologies, produce low-cost electricity and align with the climate neutrality agenda. However, reaching Fit-for-55 commitments requires further investments in renewable energy technology. Since no major future hydropower technology investments are envisioned, its overall share in the energy mix will fall as solar, wind and other RES projects are implemented (Tables 8, 9).

A significant share of Latvia's combined electricity and heat capacity has been generated using natural gas. As seen in Tables 8 and 9, this trend has changed little since 1990. Two combined heat and power plants (CHPPs) built in 1955 and 1973 constitute the biggest source of natural gas consumption and represent the second-biggest source of power generation after hydroelectric powerplants.<sup>105</sup> Most Latvian electricity and thermal energy is generated by the three HPPs and two CHPPs, which

account for 58.4% of natural gas and 41.2% of the hydro share in the electricity output.<sup>106</sup> The thermal energy is generated by the two CHPPs (combined capacity of 1710 MW), which are solely operating on natural gas, while a smaller Liepaja plant runs on a combination of woodchips and natural gas.<sup>107</sup> Noting that hydropower generation depends on hydrological conditions affecting water flows (eg spring floods, summer droughts), gas serves as a backup source in case of insufficient hydrological conditions. Over one third of Latvia's domestic electricity production remains to be generated using natural gas (Āboltiņš 2022). With ambitions to boost energy independence and extend the share of green energy, the largest solar

#### Table 8. Share of energy consumption by source in Latvia

Source	1990	2009	2021
Nuclear	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%
Gas	29.71%	32.98%	27.45%
Oil	45.39%	41.95%	45.86%
Hydropower	15.38%	22.03%	16.81%
Wind	0.00%	0.31%	0.87%
Other renewables	0.00%	0.35%	6.21%
Coal	9.53%	2.27%	0.88%
Solar	0.00%	0.00%	0.03%

#### Table 9. Share of electricity production by source in Latvia

Source	1990	2009	2021
Nuclear	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%
Gas	26.02%	36.09%	39.30%
Oil	6.32%	6.32%	6.32%
Hydropower	67.63%	62.08%	46.54%
Wind	0.00%	0.86%	2.40%
Other renewables	0.00%	0.86%	14.09%
Coal	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%
Solar	0.00%	0.00%	0.08%
Highest percentage	Second highest percentage	Third highest percentage	Fourth highest percentage

park in the country is currently being developed in the Ventspils area. Expected to generate 110,000 MWh, the solar park will cover the annual electricity demand for approximately 52,000 households by 2024.<sup>108</sup>

Although gas remains an important component in the Latvian energy mix, the country depended until recently on a sole provider: Gazprom. The national gas market situation changed as a consequence of several critical infrastructure projects in the region: the LNG terminal in Lithuania (2014), the Balticconnector pipeline (2020) adjoining Finland and Estonia, and most recently the GIPL pipeline (2022) linking the Lithuanian-Polish gas networks. To better utilise the gas networks, the existing connections are developed further (eg the ELLI gas link between Latvia and Lithuania is under enhancement and will double its bidirectional transmission capacity by 2023).<sup>109</sup> Enhancement of the Latvia-Estonia gas interconnector had also landed on the EU Projects of Common Interest (PCI) list.<sup>110</sup> However, Gazprom remains a major shareholder (34%) of the largest national gas trader, Latvijas Gāze, alongside Itera Latvija (with a 16% share package),<sup>111</sup> which belongs to Areti International and is controlled by the head of Rosneft (Volgina 2015).

Due to close ties with the Russian Federation, the Third Energy Package (3EP) was implemented in Latvia under a derogation for emergent gas markets.<sup>112</sup> This meant that the energy companies could retain ownership of the transmission networks while the transmission subsidiaries were turned into legally independent stock companies. Incidentally, this was also the most favourable scenario for Gazprom (Jirušek et al. 2015). The European Commission withdrew Latvia's derogation from the 3EP Gas Directive when the LNG terminal in Lithuania became operational in 2014, which broke the Baltic States' 'energy island' status. Responding to the development of the Lithuanian LNG terminal, the Latvian Parliament approved amendments to its Energy Law and further postponed the liberalisation of the gas market, taking advantage of the exemption option that stretched the unbundling procedures into 2017 (Grigas et al. 2013; Pakalkaitė 2016). Until 2017, Latvijas Gāze had exclusive rights to the Inčukalns UGS. In 2017, Conexus Baltic Grid came under partial ownership of the Latvian state and split from Latvijas Gāze, while the distribution was assigned to a subsidiary: Gaso.<sup>113</sup> In accordance with the 3EP, Conexus Baltic Grid was handed over the gas infrastructure, including transmission systems and the UGS.<sup>114</sup> At the same time, the TSO was fully unbundled<sup>115</sup> (Grigas et al. 2013). The liberalisation of the Latvian electricity market enabled a functioning market grounded in principles of competition (Bride and Zvaigzne 2016).

Latvia plays an important role in the solidifying regional natural gas market, as it houses a large-scale UGS with 4.47 bcm storage capacity.<sup>116</sup> The Inčukalns UGS has gained an increasingly important role in the face of the Russo-Ukrainian war, as adhering to the recently amended EU Regulation (EU) 2017/1938<sup>117</sup> and (EC) No 715/2009<sup>118</sup> with an introduction of a minimum capacity requirement of 80% for winter of 2022/3 and 90% for the following winter. This ensures the energy security of the neighbouring countries through solidarity agreements.<sup>119</sup> Formerly, the UGS was also used to supply north-western Russia during the winter months (Jirušek et al. 2015: 510).

Talks about alternative gas supply routes have been circulating for over a decade, as Latvia could not challenge the prices set above the market value due to the monopolised gas market. In this light, together with its fellow Baltic States, Latvia has called for tighter energy security measures and a regional solution. The call was answered by DG Energy, which identified several sites in the three Baltic States in 2012 for the potential LNG terminal locations (Āboltiņš 2022). By that time, however, the Lithuanian LNG terminal project was already in progress, rendering the regional plans obsolete. Throughout the past decade, the plans for two LNG terminals surfaced in the debate in Latvia: the Kundzinsala Southern Project (Savickis et al. 2021: 49) and the Skulte LNG Terminal Project.<sup>120</sup> While the former seemed to die out, the latter has been under development since 2016 but is still not complete. Following the outbreak of the Russo-Ukrainian War and the subsequent energy crisis, the Latvian Cabinet of Ministers announced the necessity of the construction of the LNG terminal.<sup>121</sup> The two proposals mentioned above are currently undergoing evaluation.<sup>122</sup> This includes the assessment of national security, economic, technical, legal and safety compliance. In May 2022, Latvian energy company Virši signed a 20% investment agreement with the Skulte LNG terminal, which is envisioned to speed up the implementation of the project.<sup>123</sup> The Minister of Economics noted that while the ongoing evaluation is to determine the feasibility of the terminal project, the developers are encouraged not to delay the implementation if possible.<sup>124</sup> Considering that the implementation of the projects already has a long history, proceeding without official backing and financing is unlikely. In April 2022, the government mandated the Latvian Ministry of Economy to carry out negotiations regarding the use of the Estonian Paldiski LNG terminal<sup>125</sup> currently underconstruction until the national terminal is built

While the war in Ukraine has steered the laggard development of the LNG projects, Latvian energy mix composition has undergone few changes since the 1990s. With oil and gas covering most of the domestic energy consumption, climate neutrality targets necessitate the large-scale deployment of low-carbon and renewable energy technologies. Alongside the existing hydro energy generation infrastructure, the development of the new solar farm is a step in the right direction, although attaining climate neutrality by 2050 will call for fundamental changes in the energy sector, including fewer inter-sector ties with Russia.



### LITHUANIA: SMALL COUNTRY THINKING BIG

Lithuania was the first country to break away from the Soviet Union in 1990. The move from a centrally planned to a market economy proved lonesome and difficult, as the legislative base had to be built from scratch. The 1990s were marked by the development of policy frameworks and ambitions to gain EU and NATO membership. The objective of tackling energy security issues has stretched over the past three decades. Despite political independence, energy infrastructure was inherently Soviet, resulting in dependencies across energy sectors: through gas and oil pipelines with west-bound flows from Russia, Russian fuel-driven RBMK nuclear reactors, and an electricity grid operating synchronously with Russian and Belarussian systems (the BRELL ring).

The Kremlin had been using energy to send political messages even before the dissolution of the USSR. The first disruptions in Lithuania occurred in April-June 1990, when the oil supply was shut off and gas flows critically restricted. Hereafter, to varying scale and scope, Lithuania experienced politically and economically motivated energy disruptions correlating with political developments in 1992-93, 1998-99, 2006 and 2010-14. Unsurprisingly, energy independence guickly became a central mission for Lithuania. Ever since 1990, the energy policy has maintained consistent emphasis on energy security, and it is now positioned alongside the climate neutrality goals in line with the Fit-for-55 package and 'the European Green Deal'.<sup>126</sup> Thus far, the mission to achieve energy security has been carried out with the opening of an oil terminal in 1998, an LNG terminal in 2014, enhancement of the Latvia-Lithuania interconnection ELLI (which will double bidirectional flow capacities by 2023), construction of the GIPL interconnector with Poland (2022), an increasing share of renewable energy sources (RES), and synchronisation with the continental grid (to be finalised by 2025). In that sense, the energy independence objective is gradually being met, balancing on two components: diversification and interconnectedness. In the face of the Russian aggressions in Ukraine in 2022, Lithuania was able to pioneer the decision to completely cut off energy ties with Russia in April the same year as a direct consequence of decades-long strategic energy sector development and political determination.

In a country short on domestic energy resources, two sectors were of particular concern: oil and natural gas, Russia being the primary supplier of both. Consequently, diversification of supply routes was prioritised, and efforts focused on finding an alternative oil supply. Already in 1998, the Būtingė oil terminal was erected together with the necessary infrastructure adjoining the terminal with the only oil refinery in

ENERGY SECURITY IN THE BALTIC SEA REGION

the Baltic States, with a 91.6 km crude pipeline and six oil tanks with a total capacity of 306,000 m<sup>3,127</sup> Until July 2006, crude oil was delivered to Lithuania in two ways: through the Russian Druzhba ('Friendship') pipeline and the Būtingė terminal. After the refinery was sold to a Polish company over a Russian bidder, however, the Druzhba pipeline was abruptly shut off under the pretence of emergency repair and has never been reopened.<sup>128</sup> The oil refinery has since been supplied through the Būtingė terminal with a capacity of 14 Mt of crude oil per year; enough to exploit the refining volumes and export the surplus.<sup>129</sup> Secondly, a natural gas market had to be created. Tied to a sole pipeline delivery system from Russia, Lithuania was exposed to energy insecurity. Plans to build an LNG terminal already started circulating in the parliament in 2006. However, it was first in 2011 that the project made it to the government agenda, largely as a reaction to exceedingly high gas prices. It is worth noting that different plans for the LNG terminal envisioned divergent private/stateowned, small-/large-scale, and national/regional variations. Neither of the options, however, projected a frictionless way out of Gazprom's regional monopoly. Especially because the Russian company was a shareholder in the national gas company in Lithuania, much like in the fellow Baltic States,130 and it exerted monopolistic tendencies with its representatives on both the Lithuanian and Russian sides (Grigas 2013). Under immense pressure, Lithuania seized the opportunity to break free by adopting the most stringent form of the EU's Third Energy Package<sup>131</sup> (full ownership unbundling), which laid the foundations for the creation of a national gas market. Battling against the ever-rising gas prices and pressured by time, Lithuania proceeded with an LNG terminal as a project of national importance instead of waiting for EU approval of a regional LNG terminal project. The diversification of natural gas supply was introduced in 2014. Even before the FSRU, symbolically named Independence, docked at the terminal in the coastal town of Klaipėda, debates over its economic viability arose. However, the critical importance of the infrastructure was justified on security rather than economic grounds. Today, the sceptics have mostly gone silent.

Concerns over gas supply security had also pushed towards stronger energy efficiency measures and a move to alternative energy sources. For instance, a mass block-house renovation programme to boost energy efficiency was launched in 2004 (Berling and Bratz 2021), and co-generation, district and residential heating increasingly moved from natural gas to biomass.<sup>132</sup> This partially tackled insecurity of gas supply through energy-saving measures and the implementation of low-carbon-emission technologies. This trend has been further accelerated in recent years. In fact, the primary energy consumption has decreased from 202 TWh per year in 1990 to 70 TWh per year in 2021, equating to a 65% reduction.<sup>133</sup>

Unlike the gas sector, the liberalisation of the wholesale electricity market went smoother. In 2002, the national legal framework was established, and the market principles entered into force in 2010 (Švedas 2014). While the efforts were focused on learning the corporate mindset and commercialisation in the period 1997-2010, from 2010 onwards the focus shifted to boosting competitiveness and ensuring fair competition following the objectives of the Third Energy Package (Streimikiene and Siksnelyte 2013). In 2015, the new NordBalt<sup>134</sup> link between Lithuania and Sweden further facilitated the process by establishing a common Baltic-Nordic electricity market. In addition, the LitPol<sup>135</sup> that linked the Lithuanian and Polish grids the same year furthered access to Western Europe. The retail market liberalisation was laggard, initially expected to be achieved by 2023.<sup>136</sup> Following the war in Ukraine, however, the proposal to postpone the move from fixed to variable costs resurfaced in the debate and was approved in August 2022 to maintain affordable price levels.<sup>137</sup>

#### Table 10. Share of electricity production by source in Lithuania

Source	1990	2009	2021
Nuclear	60.05%	75.50%	0.00%
Gas	23.87%	14.61%	32.83%
Oil	14.63%	5.15%	6.31%
Hydropower	1.45%	2.92%	9.34%
Wind	0.00%	1.11%	32.58%
Other renewables	0.00%	0.70%	14.65%
Coal	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%
Solar	0.00%	0.00%	4.29%
Highest percentage	Second highest percentage	Third highest percentage	Fourth highest percentage

Change in the sources used for electricity generation (Table 10) tell a compelling story about the general shifts in the Lithuanian energy sector. In the period from 1990 to 2009, nuclear power occupied a central role. However, one of the conditions of EU membership was the decommissioning of two Chernobyl-type reactors in Ignalina in 2004 and 2009, respectively.<sup>138</sup> The closure of the second reactor in 2009 reduced domestic electricity generation from 13,000 to 4,243 GWh in 2010.<sup>139</sup> This led to a dramatic increase in electricity prices and a search for alternative means of generating power. With the closure of the Ignalina NPP, Lithuania moved from being

a net exporter to a net importer of electricity.<sup>140</sup> In 2021, imported electricity accounted for over 70% of Lithuania's electricity needs. Unsurprisingly, plans to build a new NPP were on the agenda, but they never materialised.

In the decade following the closure of the NPP, the share of RES in the domestic production of electricity increased significantly, reaching 60.86%<sup>141</sup> in 2021. This was also apparent in the national energy mix, where wind energy accounted for over 5% of the overall energy consumption in 2021 and a 32.58% share in the domestic electricity production (Tables 10, 11). In June 2020, the Lithuanian government approved a territory for an offshore wind farm of up to 700 MW. The first tender is scheduled for 2023. The offshore park alone will cover over 25% of the national electricity demand.<sup>142</sup> Nonetheless, as evident from the shares of energy consumption (Table 11), oil and gas have steadily become the predominant sources in the Lithuanian energy mix.

#### Table 11. Share of energy consumption by source in Lithuania

Source	1990	2009	2021
Nuclear	23.91%	32.59%	0.00%
Gas	26.95%	28.44%	31.75%
Oil	43.91%	33.95%	53.70%
Hydropower	0.61%	1.33%	1.44%
Wind	0.00%	0.49%	5.08%
Other renewables	0.00%	0.36%	2.52%
Coal	4.59%	2.19%	3.02%
Solar	0.00%	0.00%	0.46%
Highest percentage	Second highest percentage	Third highest percentage	Fourth highest percentage

There are plans to develop a national hydrogen strategy and to accelerate pilot projects and hydrogen valleys in the Lithuanian government.<sup>143</sup> Furthermore, network resilience has been strengthened with a 200MW battery system that enables the grid to operate in an isolated mode (ie independently) before the synchronisation with the continental grid is completed.<sup>144</sup> The self-sufficiency that RES offers is even more appealing today, and the war in Ukraine has accelerated the RES projects and simplified administrative procedures, as noted in the newest Breakthrough Package<sup>145</sup> for renewable energy technology implementation. In

addition, even more emphasis has been placed on self-sufficiency; from 2023, all new commercial buildings are required to ensure the self-generation of energy, and the same requirements are currently being considered for residential buildings from 2024 onwards.<sup>146</sup>

The war in Ukraine and the energy crisis have showcased how the investments in national energy security are of crucial importance. With oil and LNG terminals, Lithuania can access the two fossils fuels that occupy a significant role in its energy mix. Furthermore, the interconnections of gas networks and electricity grids ensure the stability of supply. These infrastructures allowed Lithuania to become the first country to sever all energy ties with Russia following the outbreak of war in Ukraine. Whereas prior to 2022, administrative procedures were preventing the energy projects from gaining speed, the energy crisis has triggered a number of policy responses aimed at both improving energy efficiency measures and upscaling renewable energy technologies implementation, both of which are in line with the green agenda. With multiple renewable energy projects in the pipeline, Lithuania is heading towards its climate neutrality targets. However, high shares of oil and natural gas in the national energy mix call for mass substitution, which is going to be both costly and time-intensive.



# POLAND: THE CARBON PAST AND NUCLEAR DREAMS

The Polish energy mix can generally be characterised by two opposing trends: a gradual growth in the use of oil, natural gas, wind, solar, hydropower and other RES, and a gradual decline in the use of coal. In a historical perspective, the consumption of coal in the national energy mix fell from 89.14% in 1965 to 42.28% in 2021; the actual energy output declined from 692 TWh to 523 TWh, indicating a 24% drop in the 60-year period.<sup>147</sup> In contrast, natural gas has undergone an upwards trend, rocketing from 17 TWh in 1965 to 232 TWh in 2021. Due to the phasing out of coal, gas is playing an increasingly important role in bridging the Polish transition to decarbonisation by 2050.<sup>148</sup>

The collapse of the Soviet Union necessitated the renegotiation of contracts on gas imports from Russia by Poland in the early 1990s. Both sides signed the agreement on building the Yamal-Europe pipeline in 1993 and on gas deliveries to Poland in 1996 (Fischer 2008). The agreement on deliveries was criticised domestically, as the Polish side contracted for higher gas volumes than expected consumption levels for the next 25 years and agreed to an unfavourable 'take or pay rule', which prohibited the re-export of surplus gas (Fischer 2008). In fact, the 1996 contract was breached in April 2022 with Gazprom's unilateral decision to initiate a gas cut-off.<sup>149</sup> The conditioned contract led to the politicisation and diversification of the Polish energy supply, with the subsequent Polish governments considering various gas diversification routes (eg from Denmark, Norway, Germany, Central Asia and Ukraine or the construction of an LNG terminal) (Fischer 2008). These plans lacked consistency, and it was first following the election of President Lech Kaczyński in December 2005 and the Ukrainian gas crisis in January 2006 that energy policy became a matter of urgent national security in Poland. Kaczyński made energy security one of the top priorities of his presidency, and the plans for the construction of the LNG terminal and a gas pipeline from Norway started to crystallise.<sup>150</sup> Both projects had strong political and security dimensions from the start.<sup>151</sup> Poland also rejected the construction of the Yamal 2 gas pipeline offered by Russia in 2007.

The construction of the first LNG terminal in Świnoujście, named after deceased President Lech Kaczyński, started in 2011, and the terminal became operational in 2016.<sup>152</sup> In April 2022, the first stage of expansion was completed, boosting the terminal's capacity to 6.3 bcm/y. The capacity is scheduled to be further expanded by the end of 2023, which will further increase the regasification capacity to 8.3 bcm/y.<sup>153</sup> Furthermore, the plans for a new 6.1 bcm/y floating LNG terminal in Gdansk are in progress, which is expected to be operational by 2028.<sup>154</sup>

When it comes to pipeline infrastructure, the strategic Baltic Pipe Project will deliver up to 10 bcm of Norwegian gas per year from the North Sea via Denmark to Poland and is expected to become operational in autumn 2022, reaching full capacity in early 2023.<sup>155</sup> The bidirectional corridor is also suitable to transfer gas from Poland to the Danish market, further adding to the flexibility and security of energy supply in the region. The timing of these initiatives is key, as the expiration of Poland's longterm contract with Gazprom in December 2022 was the primary push to stick to the deadlines. It is also one of the reasons why cutting the gas supply to Poland by Russia in April 2022 did not raise energy security concerns for Poland, which had domestic storage facilities filled up to 80% capacity and diversified gas supply routes in place to meet its future domestic demand.

### Table 12. Share of electricity production by source in Poland

Source	1990	2009	2021
Nuclear	0,00%	0,00%	0,00%
Gas	0,10%	3,17%	9,69%
Oil	1,83%	2,80%	2,84%
Hydropower	1,07%	1,57%	1,32%
Wind	0,00%	0,71%	8,97%
Other renewables	0,04%	3,46%	4,63%
Coal	96,97%	88,28%	70,34%
Solar	0,00%	0,00%	2,21%

#### Table 13. Share of energy consumption by source in Poland

Source	1990	2009	2021
Nuclear	0,00%	0,00%	0,00%
Gas	8,59%	13,80%	18,84%
Oil	15,68%	28,00%	31,02%
Hydropower	0,35%	0,61%	0,50%
Wind	0,00%	0,28%	3,44%
Other renewables	0,01%	1,53%	1,97%
Coal	75,37%	55,13%	42,38%
Solar	0,00%	0,00%	0,84%
Highest percentage	Second highest percentage	Third highest percentage	Fourth highest percentage

Polish gas infrastructure is also increasingly linked to the regional energy market through multiple cross-border interconnectors. The GIPL interconnector linking Poland and Lithuania started commercial operations in May 2022. Importantly, it adjoins the LNG terminals in Klaipėda and Świnoujście while also adjusting the gas transits to the shifting demand-supply dynamic in the region due to bidirectional flows.<sup>156</sup> The Polish system is also integrated further with the Central and Eastern Europe (CEE) gas infrastructure through an interconnector with Slovakia<sup>157</sup> (2022), and plans for a Czech-Polish interconnector<sup>158</sup> are on the table. While the latter has been repeatedly postponed from 2021 to 2023 and then again to 2027, considering the current geopolitical context, this timetable is likely to be accelerated. Despite infrastructural developments, the Polish natural gas market remains highly concentrated, with the state-owned company PGNiG in a lead position with exclusive rights to using the LNG terminal, full coverage contract for regasification capacity, as well as the control over a long-term 'take or pay' contract with Gazprom (to expire in December 2022). Furthermore, the domestic production of natural gas of approximately 4 bcm/y is also controlled by PGNiG subsidiaries.<sup>159</sup> The distribution system operator (DSO) PSG is 100% PGNiG- owned and is the largest retail natural gas supplier, although legally unbundled from distribution activities.<sup>160</sup> The liberalisation of the gas market had been postponed previously, in 2010, following the Third Gas Directive (3EP) and remains incomplete to this day.<sup>161</sup> The slow implementation of the 3EP provisions dragged Poland to the EU Court of Justice in 2012 for failing to transpose the Directive 2009/73/EC into the Polish natural gas market (Gawlikowska-Fyk 2013). In particular, the price regulation; the retail price regulation clause has been prolonged to 2027 from the initial plan to end tariff protection in 2023 over price volatility concerns.<sup>162</sup>

Following the Russian invasion of Ukraine in February 2022, the largest state-owned Polish refiner, Orlen, also stopped buying Russian oil on the spot market and started importing from alternative routes. Prior to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2019, Russia supplied Poland with about 365,000 barrels of oil per day, accounting for 70% of the country's total crude imports.<sup>163</sup>

The new geopolitical situation coupled with the need for accelerated energy transition also has repercussions for the country's coal sector. Coal is especially important to Poland, as over two-thirds of electricity is still generated from coal (Table 12). Although the share of coal in the general energy consumption has been declining over the last three decades, the domestic electricity consumption has increased from 133.31 TWh in 1990 to 180.00 TWh in 2021.<sup>164</sup> Nevertheless, the share of coal has been increasingly replaced by gas, wind and other RES sources (Table 12).

Despite the EU climate agenda and the overall decarbonisation policy, the Polish government signed a 'societal agreement' in April 2021 with the representatives of the coalminer unions, which extended the timeline for phasing out coal to 2049 and envisaged investments in clean coal technologies. In recent years, Poland has also been a foot-dragger on EU climate action. Together with the other Visegrad states (Czechia, Slovakia and Hungary), Poland has undermined the ambitious EU climate agenda on several occasions by protesting significant GHG emissions cuts or blocking the EU 2050 carbon-neutral target.<sup>165</sup> Since the outbreak of the Russo-Ukrainian War and the increase in prices and the demand for coal, Poland has been considering increasing coal mining and extending coal mine lifetimes. Quick investments in the coal sector are currently difficult, however, due to EU decarbonisation policy.<sup>166</sup> Regardless of the short-term policy fluctuations, coal will remain a decisive element in the Polish energy mix for the foreseeable future.

The domestic electricity production has approached record highs of 179.4 TWh in 2021, which was 99.5% of the total demand of 180.3 TWh.<sup>167</sup> Poland is also well connected with high-voltage links to Czech Republic, Germany, Slovakia, Ukraine, Sweden and Lithuania.<sup>168</sup> The interconnectors ensure an overall transmission capacity of 11.8GW, which is expected to be further increased to 12.5GW by 2025. Although the pace of modernisation and decarbonisation is insufficient, several large-scale projects, including nuclear reactors and windfarms, are expected to mediate the energy balance. The need to phase out coal to meet the EU climate protection goals has also served as a key driver behind the development of the domestic nuclear energy programme. Poland has planned the construction of six 1.0-1.5 GW units, with the first nuclear power plant to be in operation by 2033 and each successive unit to follow every two years (PEP 2040<sup>169</sup>). The six reactors built by 2043 could cover around 20% of the domestic demand for electricity. Several energy-intensive industrial companies in Poland, including Unimot and Synthos Green Energy, have also been exploring the possibility to invest in SMRs to replace the coal-fired power plants since 2021.<sup>170</sup> The war strengthened the determination to proceed with the NPP programme despite the delays, while the gathering of Russian forces at the Ukrainian border in early February 2022 coincided with the signing of the agreement with the US company NuScale Power and Polish copper and silver producer KGHM Polska Miedź SA to deploy the first SMRs in Poland as early as 2029 in a bid to further increase energy security.<sup>171</sup>

Poland is also increasingly developing RES, most notably wind power. In 2021, almost 9% of Polish electricity was wind-generated (Table 12). There are currently over 50 onshore wind farms in the country, and this number will increase, especially

after the government amended the previous unfavourable regulations in July 2022 that had stalled the development of land-based wind energy for several years.<sup>172</sup> Although Poland does not yet have offshore wind, Polish energy companies, together with foreign investors, are planning several offshore wind projects on the Baltic Sea starting in the next few years (2022-9).<sup>173</sup> According to the Polish energy strategy looking ahead to 2040, the country plans to reach 5.9 GW from offshore by 2030 and up to 11 GW by 2040.<sup>174</sup> Given the new geopolitical context, these project timelines will likely accelerate further.

The outbreak of the Russo-Ukrainian War has highlighted the importance of the diversification strategy that Poland has employed for decades, resulting in LNG infrastructure, multiple bidirectional gas interconnectors as well as the electricity grid interconnections. With natural gas treated as a transition fuel, this pipeline nexus is of crucial importance to enabling the move towards a more carbon-neutral economy. The planned multiple projects in renewable energy and the development of nuclear energy are also in line with the climate agenda. However, the long timeframe of the NPP project's completion (2033-45) raises questions regarding the extent to which it will aid the low-carbon energy transition in the medium term. The soaring prices of fossil fuels have also triggered a backlash regarding the phase-out of coal. With the deadline extended to 2049, attaining Fit-for-55 objectives and reaching climate neutrality goals by 2050 became highly questionable.



### **GERMANY: CAUGHT IN GAS PIPELINES**

Over the past three decades, the German energy mix has undergone two transitions: firstly, coal has been increasingly replaced by gas; particularly in electricity generation, where its usage fell from 311.70 TWh in 1990 to 162.60 TWh in 2021.<sup>175</sup> And, secondly, nuclear energy has gradually been replaced by renewables following the initial plan to phase out nuclear electricity production by the end of 2022.<sup>176</sup> However, the outbreak of war in Ukraine has altered the course of decarbonisation in the short term, posing challenges for the current nuclear phase-out timeline.<sup>177</sup>

In the 1990s and 2000s, the issue of security of supply in Germany was mostly left to private sector energy companies.<sup>178</sup> Before 2005, the domestic debate on energy security revolved around the nuclear phase-out, climate change and price stability (Surwillo 2019). While the Ukrainian gas crisis of 2006 raised energy security questions for the first time in Germany, the German-Russian energy cooperation continued. Even the Ukrainian-Russian conflict in 2014 and the Russian annexation of Crimea and the eastern Ukrainian territories did not change that. In fact, the Russian-Ukrainian gas dispute from January 2006 served to justify the construction of the Nord Stream 1 (NS1) gas pipeline further,<sup>179</sup> as it was seen as bypassing the potentially unstable transit states and hence minimising the possibilities of supply disruptions (Ibid.). In the German context, NS1 was considered a Russian-European project (Surwillo 2019), and the prevailing rationale was one of 'mutual dependence', which viewed the increase of interdependencies between Europe and Russia as a way of democratising the latter and contributing to the overall security on the continent. Despite the criticism directed at Germany for not consulting with its eastern neighbours and undermining the European solidarity clause,<sup>180</sup> the project continued, and the 55 bcm/y pipeline was commissioned in November 2011.181 Similarly, the construction of the Nord Stream 2 (NS2) pipeline already in the aftermath of the 2014 conflict in Ukraine was justified on the grounds of European energy security and economic prosperity.<sup>182</sup> At the time, alternatives like LNG imports were dismissed as too costly, and energy businesses pointed to the EUR 4bn stake already invested in the project.<sup>183</sup> The pipeline construction was completed in 2021, but its certification was suspended following Russian 'recognition' of the break-away regions of Luhansk and Donetsk just days prior to the invasion of Ukraine on 24 February 2022. Since the outbreak of war, Germany had to radically reconsider its (energy) cooperation with Moscow; not only was the NS2 project put on hold, but the German government announced its intention to build two LNG terminals, previously disregarded in 2020 due to a 'lack of market response'.<sup>184</sup> Further, plans for the creation of strategic coal and gas reserves have emerged.<sup>185</sup>

The share of coal in electricity generation has waned over the past 30 years (-30%), increasingly replaced by natural gas (+10%).<sup>186</sup> However, with only a fraction of natural gas being covered by domestic production, Germany is highly dependent on imports. Although the German gas market was fully unbundled following the Third Energy Package (3EP), Gazprom continued to supply Germany under a revised long-term contract together with participation in a spot-market (Westphal 2014).

### Table 14. Share of energy consumption by source in Germany

Source	1990	2009	2021 (2020)
Nuclear	10,32%	9,79%	4,93% (4,73%)
Gas	15,19%	22,87%	25,78%
Oil	36,67%	36,29%	33,10%
Hydropower	1,22%	1,44%	1,42%
Wind	<0,01%	2,98%	8,77% (10,11%)
Other renewables	0,11%	2,67%	4,62%
Coal	36,49%	22,60%	16,74% (14,62%)
Solar	<0,01%	0,51%	3,65%
Highest percentage	Second highest percentage	Third highest percentage	Fourth highest percentage

All gas imports currently come through pipelines. Germany is one of the largest importers of natural gas in the world, with 95% of domestic gas demand being satisfied by imports. Natural gas amounted to over 25% of Germany's domestic energy consumption in 2021, making it the second most important energy source after oil (see Table 14). According to a 2022 statement issued by the German Ministry of Economy and Climate, 55% of the country's gas imports came from Russia, 30% from Norway and 13% from the Netherlands.<sup>187</sup>

Similarly, nearly all of Germany's primary oil consumption must be covered by imports,<sup>188</sup> and in 2021 alone over one third of all crude oil (corresponding to 80 Mt) came from Russia.<sup>189</sup> While oil remains Germany's primary energy source (Table 14), it is largely used as fuel for transport, and electricity is generated mostly from coal, wind and gas, respectively (Table 15). While oil is a more palpable resource, easily transportable by rail, road and sea, the diversification of gas constitutes a major challenge for two reasons. First, the country's high gas import dependency is coupled with the lack of sufficient alternative gas infrastructure, which is costly and

takes years to build. Second, the problem is magnified by gas being the 'bridge fuel' in, Energiewende, the ambitious German green energy transition that rules out both the use of coal and nuclear energy long-term.

The German strategy for an energy pathway to 2050 sets a deadline for a nuclear phase-out by 2022.<sup>190</sup> In 2021, the plans also included phasing out coal by 2038 and covering half of the domestic electricity supply from renewable energy sources by 2030, with the increased targets of 20GW of offshore wind by 2030 (and 40GW by 2040) and investments in 5GW of hydrogen production by the same year.<sup>191</sup> Following the outbreak of war in Ukraine and the resulting energy crisis, the German government pledged to further accelerate the development of renewable energy sources to diminish the country's energy import dependency by reducing emissions by 65% and achieving a share of 80% renewables in electricity consumption by 2030.<sup>192</sup> Additionally, Germany has adopted a new Offshore Wind Law that further accelerated its wind capacity building, now aiming at 40 GW by 2035 and 70 GW by 2045.<sup>193</sup> These are very ambitious tasks. Wind power was Germany's greatest single source of electricity in 2020, but it already lost that ranking after coal-fired plants supplied most of the power to the electricity grid in the first half of 2021, triggering concerns about meeting the ambitious 2030 targets (Table 15). Weather conditions causing wind-energy shortfalls and the increased demand for natural gas in the post-COVID-19 pandemic recovery led to power price spikes across Europe and were partly to blame for the increased coal use at the time.<sup>194</sup>

# Table 15. Share of electricity production by source in Germany

Source	1990	2009	2021 (2020)
Nuclear	27,88%	22,91%	12,00% (11,40%)
Gas	7,40%	14,02%	14,68% (16,89%)
Oil	4,53%	3,75%	3,85%
Hydropower	3,19%	3,23%	3,00%
Wind	0,01%	6,69%	20,20% (23,40%)
Other renewables	0,29%	5,25%	8,84%
Coal	56,70%	43,03%	28,82% (23,66%)
Solar	0,00%	1,12%	8,61%
Highest percentage	Second highest percentage	Third highest percentage	Fourth highest percentage

With an annual consumption of 503 TWh (2021), Germany generates enough electricity to make it a net exporter in commercial foreign trade, in 2021 balancing at 17.4 TWh of surplus exchange.<sup>195</sup> The inbound flows primarily come from the Nordic countries and Poland, while the outbound flows were directed to Western Europe.<sup>196</sup> Generally, the German electricity market is matured, with full liberalisation achieved in 1998 and third-party access and unbundling achieved under the National Energy Act of 2005.<sup>197</sup> Now, following the Russo-Ukrainian war, Germany declared its commitment to stick to the initial phase-out of coal by the end of the decade while at the same time reactivating some coal-fired power plants in response to recent gas shortages. Consequently, questions over meeting the national climate goals have been raised once again, even though the German authorities assure that these solutions are temporary.<sup>198</sup>

Moreover, the current energy crisis made Germany start reconsidering its nuclear phase-out plans. Energiewende gained new impetus after the decision to accelerate the nuclear phase-out following the Fukushima nuclear disaster in 2011. The post-Fukushima 'moratorium' took the seven (of 17) oldest German nuclear power plants off the grid, and the political parties agreed to shut down all of the remaining nuclear plants by 2022,<sup>199</sup> which further reduced the share of nuclear in electricity generation to under 12% (Table 15). In the present context, the German government signalled in late July 2022 that the operation times of the three remaining nuclear power plants might be extended, depending on the results of the planned stress test on the electric grid to assess power supply capacity in the case of severe disruptions (eg gas cutoff from Russia).<sup>200</sup> In September 2022, the Minister of the Economy announced that two nuclear power plants (Neckarwestheim in Baden Württemberg and Isar 2 in Bavaria) will remain 'on standby until mid-April 2023, in order, if necessary, to provide an additional contribution to the electricity grid in southern Germany'.<sup>201</sup> The potential extension is not without pitfalls, though, as the nuclear reactor operators only have enough uranium fuel storage to keep operations running until the end of 2022 (following the original phase-out timeline), and the production of new elements takes 12-15 months.<sup>202</sup>

Overall, cutting off energy ties with Russia and manoeuvring around different energy supply sources to be able to stick to the green energy transition will place a high strain on the German energy policy goals, its economy and society. The continuous societal support is one of the decisive factors in the success of Energiewende, yet the projected gas price increase (which could possibly triple by the end of 2023<sup>203</sup>) might have a drastic impact on German consumers and the German energy transition alike.

# **KEY DILEMMAS MOVING FORWARD**

### DILEMMA I: INTERCONNECTEDNESS IN POLICY AND INFRASTRUCTURE

In the current context, the most important factor to consider is the level of interconnectedness, both in terms of policy and infrastructure development. With Russia being taken off the 'reliable suppliers' list, common regional projects have become a centre of attention. For some (namely, the Baltics and Poland), questions of reliability are not new, while for others (eg the Nordics and Germany), the war in Ukraine has brought about a major shift in perception.

The region passed the first test by agreeing to several EU-encompassing sanction packages and plans for how to wean off energy dependence on Russian fossil fuels. Here, some countries have taken a firmer stand as a sign of support for Ukraine by cutting off energy ties with Russia completely; largely because of their own experience under the Soviet sphere of influence. However, the region did not act in unison regarding the Russian requirement to pay for gas deliveries in roubles, as Germany allowed the companies to comply.

When it comes to infrastructural interconnectedness, there is no quick or easy fix, and the upcoming winter will again put us to a test. However, with several key critical energy infrastructure projects that have recently materialised (eg the Balticconnector, Baltic Pipe, GIPL), the region is more ready to withstand what(ever) is coming next. Yet not without new conundrums: How will the countries fare when gas supplies run low? How strong will the solidarity be when industries must scale down and gas prices soar through the roof? Will we see an increase in 'my country first' policies and energy isolationism? Or will the political interconnectedness hold?

### **DILEMMA II: GREEN VS BLACK ENERGY**

Searching for a fix to the immediate problem caused by the sudden fall in gas supply from Russia, countries have been trawling through both black and green solutions. Some black solutions even landed on the IEA's short-term solutions list, such as burning coal to replace gas in electricity generation, which countries like Poland and Germany have followed. Meanwhile, the efforts to secure new sources of gas that are meant as a 'bridge fuel' in the EU green transition are ongoing. The plans for new LNG infrastructure are mushrooming in the BSR, including in Germany, Latvia, Estonia, Finland and Poland.

The EU is also sweeping the global LNG market. This task is complicated, as the global LNG market is characterised by long-term (10+ year) contracts that cover around 70% of total volume. Another issue points to the possibility of increasing capacities on the market. The major LNG suppliers (the US, Australia and Qatar) are already operating at near-full capacity. In the near-term, accessing cargoes destined for other destinations might be the best solution for the EU. It comes at an increasingly high price, however, simultaneously depriving other parts of the globe of LNG. However, countries in the region also look to low-carbon solutions, such as nuclear energy. While Sweden and Finland continue with their nuclear power generation, Poland plans its first NPPs, and Germany has prolonged life of its nuclear power plants to secure electricity in short term. The plans for small nuclear reactors are also taking shape in Finland, Estonia and Poland. Together with new wind and solar projects, the low-carbon energy solutions will gradually speed up the energy transition and help to replace fossil fuel generation in the medium- to long-term. In the near future, however, there is a risk that the ambitious climate agenda might get side-tracked, overshadowed by a more pressing issue of affordable and available black energy supply.

### DILEMMA III: TECHNOLOGICAL AND POLITICAL LOCK-INS

The eastern part of the BSR learned the hard way that technology is political. After independence in the early 1990s, the countries remained locked into energy dependence on Russia through gas and oil pipelines and electricity grids. Today, with the rapid responses to the crisis, we are risking new technological lock-ins that may produce new dependencies and hamper the green transition.

The overall trend in the region has been to consider long-term mega-projects: offshore wind parks with and without hydrogen production (power-to-x technology), nuclear energy projects, and gas interconnectors; to name but a few. But energy infrastructure is long-term: once in place, it stays for decades. The arguably hasty investments in multiple LNG infrastructure projects should therefore raise questions over scenarios when we can no longer rely on fossil fuels and must prepare the technology for green(er) sources. Additionally, the guestions of whether the LNG suppliers are reliable and whether the operations are carried out in an ethical manner should be considered. Becoming dependent on large quantities of LNG from industrial competitors (eq the US) might also impact the competitiveness of EU industry long-term, as LNG exporters can always source their energy domestically at a lower price. With several countries in the BSR currently calling for speedy implementation of multiple LNG terminals, seemingly without coordinated action, there is also risk of them locking themselves in a political 'my own way' isolation. The costly infrastructure may end up being a mere sunk cost with no option to extract the value in our green future and a testimony to failed cooperation.

Nuclear energy poses different questions to consider. Although labelled green in the EU taxonomy, nuclear energy comes with long-term quandaries for radioactive waste storage and disposal. Another important question points to suppliers of uranium and plutonium used for fuelling the conventional as well as the small nuclear reactors. Today's dream may turn into tomorrow's nightmare.

The extensions of the operational life of infrastructure in place should also be considered. Apart from the obvious hazards (eg safety, endurance), one must consider the servicing and maintenance of such objects. Are the parts produced by reliable partners or are they further extending the dependencies through bolts, turbines and engines?

# DILEMMA IV: SPEED, SCALE AND COMPETITIVENESS

While managing the demand side of energy consumption via improved energy efficiency is the fastest and the cheapest policy option to aid the low-carbon transition, the relative costs, scalability, and timeframe of different low-carbon energy projects need to be weighed against each other while making future investment decisions.

However, the cost estimates of different energy generation infrastructures vary. For instance, while some argue that nuclear energy offers one of the lowest costs per MWh, others see renewables as a much cheaper source of energy. One of the most prominent debates also concerns the deployment of both renewable and nuclear energy generators. When employed together, nuclear energy might cushion the weather-influenced swings in RES energy generation and hence ensure energy security. However, the critiques of this solution highlight that NPPs (much like coaland gas-fired plants) operate as baseload power plants. This means that instead of producing more electricity from nuclear when the weather conditions are not suitable for RES is not plausible, as the capacity regulation for NPPs is limited. Hence, building new NPPs means keeping a stable share of nuclear in the national mix for decades, rather than using nuclear energy as a bridging mechanism before renewables take over. The lack of flexibility casts a shadow.

Another notable issue relates to electricity generation at large, as to date, the storage of electricity is too expensive to be rolled out on a large scale. With promising hydrogen projects to utilize electricity surplus and improvements in batteries, the future might be brighter. However, much of the technology, that the net zero goals rely upon currently remains in theoretical or testing stages, while human activity continues to drive climate change, and energy prices are skyrocketing.

#### DILEMMA V: POLITICAL RESILIENCE AND LOSS OF MOMENTUM

The coming winter will test the resilience of the Baltic Sea Region and the EU. The burden of the high energy prices has already taken a toll on European consumers and businesses alike, leaving policymakers hesitant to implement stronger measures. The oil sanctions imposed on Russia in June 2022 are marked by exemptions (exclude one third of piped oil deliveries and allow for emergency seaborne oil purchases), and a long timeframe (a ban on seaborne imports by December 2022 and on petroleum products by February 2023). Although they target the main source of Russian energy export revenues (10% of yearly GDP), their gradual implementation raises doubts about the extent to which they will harm the Russian economy and its ongoing war efforts. Moreover, the EU energy sanction regime lacks urgency moving forward. Currently, no clear date has been set for the total ban on Russian oil and it is likely that countries like Hungary would veto any moves in that direction. Imposing gas sanctions will be even more challenging. The timeline for a total phase-out of Russian gas imports as outlined in the REPowerEU plan stretches until 2030, and there is a real chance of political support waning

before that; especially if the war in Ukraine should end before then. The Nord Stream 2 pipeline has already been mentioned recently as a possible solution to the acute gas crisis by voices both in Europe<sup>204</sup> and in Russia.<sup>205</sup> Crucially, the public moods are also shifting: Some recent surveys show that due to high economic costs, the mood is changing towards accepting a Russia-Ukraine ceasefire to get a quick fix to the energy problem, rather than insisting on Ukraine's right to its whole territory, which would risk a long-term energy crisis.<sup>206</sup> These are all early symptoms of a loss of political momentum. While strengthening European contingency plans to better protect consumers could partially address this issue, the increasingly high economic costs in the months and years to come are undeniable and might cause social unrest across the Baltic Sea Region and throughout Europe.

# **ACADEMIC REFERENCES**

Aboltiņš, Reinis. 2022. 'Energy and Climate Policy: Driving Factors Affecting the Future of LNG in Latvia'. In The Future of Energy Consumption, Security and Natural Gas: LNG in the Baltic Sea Region, edited by Kari Liuhto, 245-73. Cham: Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80367-4\_9.

Berling, Trine Villumsen, and Ingerid Bratz. 2021. 'Slow-Motion Independence: Lithuania's Road to Energy Independence through Technification'. **In Denmark and Lithuania through 100 Years of Bilateral Relations: From Neighbours to Allies by DanishEmbassyVilnius – Issuu**, edited by Niels Bo Poulsen and Hans Brask, 245-62. Vilnius: The Danish Embassy in Vilnius. https://issuu.com/danishembassyvilnius/docs/dk-lt\_book2021.

Brandt, Adam R., Jeremy Boak, and Alan K. Burnham. 2010. 'Carbon Dioxide Emissions from Oil Shale Derived Liquid Fuels'. In **Oil Shale: A Solution to the Liquid Fuel Dilemma**, 1032: 219-48. ACS Symposium Series 1032. American Chemical Society. https://doi.org/10.1021/bk-2010-1032.ch011.

Bride, Diana, and Anda Zvaigzne. 2016. 'Electricity Market Development in Latvia'. **Latgale National Economy Research** 1 (8): 5. https://doi.org/10.17770/lner2016vol1.8.1694.

Chr. Sidenius, Niels. 1986. 'Hvorfor Er Der Ikke Atomkraftværker i Danmark?' **Politica** 18 (4): 377. https://doi.org/10.7146/politica.v18i4.68847.

Collins, Gabriel. 2017. 'Russia's Use of the "Energy Weapon" in Europe'. **Rice University's Baker Institute for Public Policy**, 8.

Elere, Lelde, and Kristjan Loorits. 2013. 'Electricity Market Liberalization in Estonia'.

Fischer, Konrad. 2008. 'Dywersyfikacja Kierunków Dostaw Gazu Do Polski W Latach 1997-2007'. Szkoła Główna Handlowa w Warszawie.

Gawlikowska-Fyk, Aleksandra. 2013. 'How the European Union Is Shaping the Gas Market in Poland'. **PISM Polish Institute of International Affairs**, 5.

Gordon Dickinson, Paul. 2003. 'Finland and Russia: A Special Relationship'. **European Business Review** 15 (1). https://doi.org/10.1108/ebr.2003.05415aab.002.

Grigas, Agnia. 2012. 'The Gas Relationship between the Baltic States and Russia: Politics and Commercial Realities'. **Oxford Institute for Energy Studies**, NG 67. https://ora.ox.ac.uk/ objects/uuid:f90b3608-fa48-4db9-9cc0-196835e3bac0/download\_file?safe\_filename=NG\_67. pdf&file\_format=application%2Fpdf&type\_of\_work=Working+paper.

Grigas, Agnia. 2013. The Politics of Energy and Memory between the Baltic States and Russia. 1st ed. London: Routledge.

Grigas, Agnia, Andres Kasekamp, Kristina Maslauskaite, and Liva Zorgenfreija. 2013. 'The Baltic States in the EU: Yesterday, Today and Tomorrow'. Paris: Notre Europe – Jacques Delors Institute, 100.

Gürsan, C., and V. de Gooyert. 2021. 'The Systemic Impact of a Transition Fuel: Does Natural Gas Help or Hinder the Energy Transition?' **Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews** 138 (March): 110552. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2020.110552.

Hahn-Pedersen, Morten. 1999. A.P. Moller and the Danish Oil. Copenhagen: Schultz Forlag.

Hannikainen, Lauri. 2020. 'Finland's Continuation War (1941-1944): War of Aggression or Defence? War of Alliance or Separate War?: Analyzed from the International – Especially Legal – Perspective'. **Baltic Yearbook of International Law Online** 17 (1): 77-121. https://doi. org/10.1163/22115897\_01701\_006.

Holmberg, Sören, and Per Hedberg. 2017. 'The Will of the People? Swedish Nuclear Power Policy'. **In The Politics of Nuclear Energy in Western Europe**, edited by Wolfgang C. Müller and Paul W. Thurner. Oxford: Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198747031.003.0010.

Jääskeläinen, Jaakko, Noora Veijalainen, Sanna Syri, Mika Marttunen, and Behnam Zakeri. 2018. 'Energy Security Impacts of a Severe Drought on the Future Finnish Energy System'. **Journal of Environmental Management** 217 (July): 542-54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jenvman.2018.03.017.

Jankauskas, Vidmantas. 2015. 'The Recent Developments in the Lithuanian Gas Market'. In **Natural Gas Revolution and the Baltic Sea Region**, edited by Kari Liuhto, 171-87. Turku: Centrum Balticum.

Jirušek, Martin, Tomáš Vlček, Hedvika Koďousková, Roger W. Robinson, Anna Leshchenko, Filip Černoch, Lukáš Lehotský, and Veronika Zapletalová. 2015. **Energy Security in Central and Eastern Europe and the Operations of Russian State-Owned Energy Enterprises**. Masaryk University. https://is.muni.cz/publication/1322972/cs/Energy-Security-in-Central-and-Eastern-Europe-and-the-Operations-of-Russian-State-Owned-Energy-Enterprises/ Jirusek-Vlcek-Kodouskova-W-Robinson.

Johansen, Katinka. 2021. 'Blowing in the Wind: A Brief History of Wind Energy and Wind Power Technologies in Denmark'. **Energy Policy** 152 (March): 112139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2021.112139.

Kander, Astrid, and David I. Stern. 2014. 'Economic Growth and the Transition from Traditional to Modern Energy in Sweden'. **Energy Economics** 46 (November): 56-65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eneco.2014.08.025.

Kasiulis, Egidijus, Petras Punys, Algis Kvaraciejus, Antanas Dumbrauskas, and Linas Jurevičius. 2020. 'Small Hydropower in the Baltic States: Current Status and Potential for Future Development'. **Energies** 13 (24): 6731. https://doi.org/10.3390/en13246731.

Klemetti, Laura, and Hanna Mäkinen. 2021. **New Sources of Natural Gas for Finland: The Balticconnector Pipeline and LNG Imports**. Edited by Kari Liuhto. Cham: Palgrave Macmillan. https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-030-80367-4\_10.

Lehotský, Lukáš. 2015. 'Country Case Study: Estonia and Hungary'. **Energy Security in Central** and Eastern Europe and the Operations of Russian State-Owned Energy Enterprises, 455-505.

Meletiou, Alexis, Carlo Cambini, and Marcelo Masera. 2018. 'Regulatory and Ownership Determinants of Unbundling Regime Choice for European Electricity Transmission Utilities'. **Utilities Policy** 50 (February): 13-25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jup.2018.01.006.

Pakalkaitė, Vija. 2016. 'Lithuania's Strategic Use of EU Energy Policy Tools: A Transformation of Gas Dynamics'. **Oxford Institute for Energy Studies**. https://ora.ox.ac.uk/catalog/ uuid:9efd432b-537c-4f15-ae53-91ec9a55929c/download\_file?file\_format=application%2Fpdf&safe\_filename=Lithuania%27s%2Bstrategic%2Buse%2Bof%2BEU%2Benergy%2Bpolicy%2Btools%3B%2Ba%2Btransformation%2Bof%2Bgas%2Bmarket%2Bdynamics.pdf.

Pakalkaitė, Vija, and Rosaner, Joshua. 2019. 'The Baltics: Between Competition and Cooperation'. In **New Political Economy of Energy in Europe: Power to Project, Power to Adapt**, edited by Jakub M. Godzimirski, 215-37. London: Palgrave Macmillan, Cham.

Rudberg, Peter M., Marisa Escobar, Julie Gantenbein, and Nicholas Niiro. 2015. 'Mitigating the Adverse Effects of Hydropower Projects: A Comparative Review of River Restoration and Hydropower Regulation in Sweden and the United States'. **Georgetown International Environmental Law Review** 27 (2): 251-73.

Savickis, Juris, Laila Zemite, Leo Jansons, Namejs Zeltinš, Ilmārs Bode, Ance Ansone, Ainārs Selickis, Aleksandrs Broks, and Aleksandrs Koposovs. 2021. 'Liquefied Natural Gas Infrastructure and Prospects for the Use of LNG in the Baltic States and Finland'. Latvian Journal of Physics and Technical Sciences 58 (2): 45-63. https://doi.org/10.2478/lpts-2021-0011.

Sprūds, Andris. 2010. 'Latvian Energy Policy: Towards a Sustainable and Transparent Energy Sector'. Riga: Soros Foundation – Latvia.

Streimikiene, Dalia, and Indre Siksnelyte. 2013. 'Electricity Market Opening Impact on Investments in Electricity Sector'. **Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews** 29: 891-904. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2013.08.093.

Surwillo, Izabela. 2019. Energy Security Logics in Europe: Threat, Risk or Emancipation? Milton Park: Routledge.

Švedas, Romas. 2014. '2009-2013: energetikos politikos proveržio metai'. In **Lietuva Europos Sąjungoje. Metraštis**. 2009-2013. Vilnius: Europos studijų integracijos centras.

Vedung, Evert. 2001. 'Politics of Swedish Energy Policies (1973-2000)'. In **Building Systainable Energy Systems**: Swedish Experiences, 95-130.

Volgina, Natalia A. 2015. 'Russian Capital in Latvia: Trends and Percpectives'. In **МЕЖДУНАРОДНЫЕ ЭКОНОМИЧЕСКИЕ ОТНОШЕНИЯ**: 126-134. Moscow: Peoples' Friendship University of Russia.

Westphal, Kirsten. 2014. 'Institutional Change in European Natural Gas Markets and Implications for Energy Security: Lessons from the German Case'. **Energy Policy** 74 (November): 35-43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2014.08.032.

Wilkens, Fredrik, and Christian Johansson. 2010. 'Implementing the Third Energy Package and the Climate Change Package in Sweden', **European Energy Review**: 4.

Zemīte, Laila, Ance Ansone, Leo Jansons, Ilmārs Bode, Egīls Dzelzītis, Ainārs Selickis, Aleksandrs Romanovs, and Līga Vempere. 2021. 'The Creation of the Integrated Natural Gas Market in the Baltic Region and Its Legal Implications'. **Latvian Journal of Physics and Technical Sciences** 58 (3): 201-13. https://doi.org/10.2478/lpts-2021-0026.

# **OTHER REFERENCES**

- 1 'Warning of Its Planet-Warming Impact, Senior Economic, Social Affairs Official Urges Global Action to Address Nord Stream Pipelines' Leaks, in Security Council Briefing | UN Press', accessed 4 October 2022, https://press.un.org/en/2022/sc15047.doc.htm.
- 2 'Energy Prices: President von Der Leyen Sets out Relief Measures for Consumers and Businesses and Emphasizes Importance of Green Energy Transition', Text, European Commission – European Commission, accessed 14 September 2022, https://ec.europa. eu/info/news/energy-prices-president-von-der-leyen-sets-out-relief-measuresconsumers-and-businesses-and-emphasizes-importance-green-energy-transition-2021-oct-20\_en.
- 3 'Transition fuel' is defined as a temporary low-carbon substitute for high(er) substance fossils (eg coal, oil) enabling reduced short- and medium-term CO<sub>2</sub> emissions (Gürsan and Gooyert 2021).
- 4 'EU Sanctions against Russia Explained', accessed 14 September 2022, https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/policies/sanctions/restrictive-measures-againstrussia-over-ukraine/sanctions-against-russia-explained/.
- 5 Energistyrelsen, 'Om Olie og Gas', Energistyrelsen, 19 April 2016, https://ens.dk/ansvarsomraader/olie-gasproduktion/om-olie-og-gas.
- 6 'Oil and Gas Production in Denmark 2013', accessed 22 August 2022, https://ens.dk/sites/ens.dk/files/OlieGas/oil\_and\_gas\_in\_denmark\_2013.pdf.
- 7 'Danmarks Olie og Gasproduktion 2013', accessed 31 August 2022, https://ens.dk/sites/ens.dk/files/OlieGas/danmarks\_olie-\_og\_gasproduktion\_2013.
   pdf; 'Denmark Crude Oil: Production, 1960-2022 | CEIC Data', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.ceicdata.com/en/indicator/denmark/crude-oil-production.
- 8 'Danish Energy Agency 2020', n.d.
- 9 'The Danish Electricity and Natural Gas Markets 2020', accessed 22 August 2022, https://forsyningstilsynet.dk/media/9461/dur\_nationalreport\_2021.pdf; Energistryrelsen, 'Om Olie Og Gas'.
- 10 'Gasforsyningen under genopbygning af Tyra-gasfeltets anlæg i 2019-2023', accessed 22 August 2022, https://energinet.dk:443/Gas/Forsyningssikkerhed/Tyra.
- 11 'The Danish Electricity and Natural Gas Markets 2020'.
- 12 'New Record for Biogas in the Gas System in 2021', accessed 22 August 2022, https://en.energinet.dk:443/About-our-news/News/2022/01/07/New-record-biogas.
- 13 Hannah Ritchie, Max Roser, and Pablo Rosado, 'Denmark: Energy Country Profile', Our World in Data, 28 November 2020, https://ourworldindata.org/energy/country/denmark.
- 14 'Denmark 2017. Energy Policy Review', 2017.
- 15 'The Danish Electricity and Natural Gas Markets 2020'; 'Denmark: Electricity Imports 2021 | Statista', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.statista.com/statistics/1015329/net-electricity-import-in-denmark/.
- 16 Ritchie, Roser, and Rosado, 'Denmark: Energy Country Profile'.
- 17 'Nuclear Energy in Denmark : Danish Nuclear Electricity World Nuclear Association', accessed 29 August 2022, https://world-nuclear.org/information-library/country-profiles/ countries-a-f/denmark.aspx.

- 18 'Vindmølleindustrien som Historisk Flagskib', accessed 29 August 2022, https://ens.dk/ sites/ens.dk/files/Vindenergi/vindmoelleindustrien\_historisk\_flagskib.pdf.
- 19 'Denmark to Quadruple Onshore Wind and Solar Generation by 2030', State of Green (blog), accessed 22 August 2022, https://stateofgreen.com/en/news/denmark-toquadruple-onshore-wind-and-solar-generation-by-2030/.
- 20 Adrijana Buljan, 'Denmark Pushes North Sea Energy Island Tender Back by One Year', Offshore Wind (blog), 5 July 2022, https://www.offshorewind.biz/2022/07/05/denmarkpushes-north-sea-energy-island-tender-back-by-one-year/.
- 21 'Statement by the President at the Baltic Sea Summit', Text, European Commission European Commission, accessed 31 August 2022, https://ec.europa.eu/commission/ presscorner/detail/en/STATEMENT\_22\_5245.
- 22 'Sådan Får vi Russisk Gas Ud af Dansk Energiforbrug DI', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.danskindustri.dk/di-business/arkiv/nyheder/2022/3/sadan-far-vi-russiskgas-ud-af-dansk-energiforbrug/.
- 23 'The Esbjerg Declaration: The North Sea to Be Europe's Green Power House', accessed 29 August 2022, //www.bechbruun.com/en/news/2022/the-esbjerg-declaration-the-north-sea-to-be-europes-green-power-house.
- 24 Inge-Merete Hougaard and Kirstine Lund Christiansen, 'Net Zero: Copenhagen's Failure to Meet Its 2025 Target Casts Doubt on Other Major Climate Plans', The Conversation, accessed 14 September 2022, http://theconversation.com/net-zero-copenhagensfailure-to-meet-its-2025-target-casts-doubt-on-other-major-climate-plans-190033.
- 25 'Danish Electricity Rates Set New Record: Why Are Prices Still Going Up?', accessed 14 September 2022, https://www.thelocal.dk/20220818/danish-electricity-rates-set-new-record-why-are-prices-still-going-up/.
- 26 Georgi Kantchev, 'Europe Investigates Unexplained Leaks in Nord Stream Gas Pipelines', Wall Street Journal, 27 September 2022, sec. World, https://www.wsj.com/articles/ europe-investigates-unexplained-gas-leaks-in-nord-stream-pipelines-11664277490; 'Nord Stream Gas Leaks Caused by "Several Hundred Kilos of Explosives", euronews, 30 September 2022, https://www.euronews.com/my-europe/2022/09/30/nord-stream-gasleaks-caused-by-several-hundred-kilos-of-explosives.
- 27 Sverige, 'Energy Use in Sweden', sweden.se, 14 July 2021, https://sweden.se/climate/ sustainability/energy-use-in-sweden.
- Hannah Ritchie, Max Roser, and Pablo Rosado, 'Sweden: Energy Country Profile', Our
   World in Data, 28 November 2020, https://ourworldindata.org/energy/country/sweden;
   International Energy Agency, 'Sweden 2019. Energy Policy Review', 2019.
- 29 Ritchie, Roser, and Rosado, 'Sweden: Energy Country Profile'
- 30 'Opposition to Nuclear Power: The History and Heritage of Vattenfall', accessed 22 August 2022, https://history.vattenfall.com/stories/in-the-line-of-fire/opposition-tonuclear-power.
- 31 A power plant close to Stockholm was closed in 1974.
- 32 In 2015, it was decided for economic reasons not to complete the extensive and nearlyfinished upgrades to Oskarshamn 2, shutting it down permanently instead. Oskarshamn 2 closed in December 2016, followed by Unit 1 in June 2017. Ringhals 2 closed in December 2019, followed by Unit 1 in December 2020.
- 33 Ritchie, Roser, and Rosado, 'Sweden: Energy Country Profile'.
- 34 Ritchie, Roser, and Rosado, 'Sweden'.

- 35 Ritchie, Roser, and Rosado, 'Sweden'.
- 36 'Towards Sustainable Hydropower in Sweden', text, accessed 22 August 2022, https:// www.havochvatten.se/en/eu-and-international/towards-sustainable-hydropower-insweden.html.
- 37 'Swedish Environmental Quality Objectives', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www. regeringen.se/49bba3/contentassets/c887c3695078405aa08d48990deec32e/engelsksammanfattning-av-prop.-199798145.
- 38 'The Tricky Politics of Sweden's Offshore Wind POLITICO', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.politico.eu/article/the-tricky-politics-of-swedens-offshore-wind/.
- 39 'Swedish Armed Forces Kill Taggen Wind Farm', 4c Offshore, accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.4coffshore.com/news/swedish-armed-forces-kill-taggen-wind-farmnid14328.html.
- 40 'Hydro Rein and Eolus Enter Partnership to Jointly Develop up to 672 MW of Swedish Wind Power', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.hydro.com/en-SE/media/ news/2021/hydro-rein\_eolus-dec21/.
- 41 Lillgrund, Kårehamn, Utgrunden, Bockstigen and Vänern on the lake of the same name.
- 42 'Swedish Government Grants Permit for Offshore Wind Farm Kriegers Flak', Vattenfall, accessed 22 August 2022, https://group.vattenfall.com/press-and-media/ pressreleases/2022/swedish-government-grants-permit-for-offshore-wind-farmkriegers-flak.
- 43 Michelle Lewis, 'A Swedish Firm Is about to Build the World's Largest Single Offshore Wind Farm', Electrek (blog), 29 June 2022, https://electrek.co/2022/06/29/swedenworlds-largest-offshore-wind-farm/.
- 44 'Aurora Offshore Wind Farm, Sweden', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.powertechnology.com/marketdata/aurora-offshore-wind-farm-sweden/.
- 45 'Electricity in Sweden | OEC', OEC The Observatory of Economic Complexity, accessed 22 August 2022, https://oec.world/en/profile/bilateral-product/electricity/reporter/ swe?redirect=true.
- 46 Directive 2009/72/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 July 2009 concerning common rules for the internal market in electricity and repealing Directive 2003/54/EC (Text with EEA relevance).
- 47 Swedish Energy Agency, 'Gas', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www. energimyndigheten.se/en/sustainability/households/heating-your-home/gas/.
- 48 Riksdagsförvaltningen, 'Betänkande 2016/17:FöU5', accessed 23 August 2022, https:// www.riksdagen.se/sv/webb-tv/video/beslut/beslut\_H4C320170315F%C3%B6U5; "'Lex Karlshamn" ska öka den svenska säkerheten', Dagens Nyheter, 23 March 2017, sec. Sverige, https://www.dn.se/nyheter/sverige/lex-karlshamn-ska-oka-den-svenskasakerheten/.
- 49 'The Situation Regarding Sweden's Energy Supply in Light of Russia's Invasion of Ukraine - Government.Se', accessed 23 August 2022, https://www.government.se/ articles/2022/03/the-situation-regarding-swedens-energy-supply-in-light-of-russiasinvasion-of-ukraine/.
- 50 'Sweden Energy Information | Enerdata', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www. enerdata.net/estore/energy-market/sweden/.
- 51 International Energy Agency, 'Sweden 2019. Energy Policy Review'.

- 52 'Gasum LNG Terminal in Lysekil', Gasum, accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.gasum. fi/en/our-operations/Ing-supply-chain/terminals--liquefaction-plants/gasum-terminallysekil/; 'The Swedish Electricity and Natural Gas Market 2018', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.ceer.eu/documents/104400/6693346/C19\_NR\_Sweden\_EN.pdf/ a95a427b-3b40-27fd-6e90-57ea6f28d16d; International Energy Agency, 'Sweden 2019. Energy Policy Review'.
- 53 Swedegas, 'Storage', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.swedegas.com/Our\_ services/Storage.
- 54 International Energy Agency, 'Sweden 2019. Energy Policy Review'.
- 55 'The Swedish Electricity and Natural Gas Market 2018'
- 56 'Sweden: Making up Lost Ground on Offshore Wind | WindEurope', accessed 24 September 2022, https://windeurope.org/newsroom/news/sweden-making-up-lostground-on-offshore-wind/.
- 57 Reuters, 'Swedish PM Pledges Billions to Offset Soaring Energy Bills as Election Nears', Reuters, 17 August 2022, sec. Energy, https://www.reuters.com/business/energy/ swedish-pm-launches-subsidies-offset-soaring-electricity-prices-2022-08-17/.
- 58 'Warning of Its Planet-Warming Impact, Senior Economic, Social Affairs Official Urges Global Action to Address Nord Stream Pipelines' Leaks, in Security Council Briefing | UN Press'.
- 59 'Russo-Finnish War | Summary, Combatants, & Facts | Britannica', accessed 29 August 2022, https://www.britannica.com/event/Russo-Finnish-War.
- 60 'Agreement of Friendship, Cooperation, and Mutual Assistance | Finnish-Soviet Union | Britannica', accessed 14 September 2022, https://www.britannica.com/topic/Agreementof-Friendship-Cooperation-and-Mutual-Assistance.
- 61 Trine Villumsen Berling and Izabela Surwillo, 'Magtkampen under Østersøen', Ræson 44, no. 4/2020 (December 2020): 28-35; 'Russo-Finnish War | Summary, Combatants, & Facts | Britannica'.
- 62 Hannah Ritchie, Max Roser, and Pablo Rosado, 'Finland: Energy Country Profile', Our World in Data, 28 November 2020, https://ourworldindata.org/energy/country/finland.
- 63 'Share of Energy Imported from Russia 34 per Cent of Total Energy Consumption in 2021 Statistics Finland', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.stat.fi/en/publication/cl1xmekvw1pp80buvn1cznxmy.
- 64 'Russian Operator to Suspend Electricity Supply to Finland BBC News', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.bbc.com/news/business-61442432; 'Russia Cuts off Finland Gas Flows over Payment Dispute | Russia-Ukraine War News | Al Jazeera', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/5/21/russia-cuts-off-finland-gasflows-over-payment-dispute.
- 65 'This Is How the Gas Market Opened in Finland', Gasgrid Finland (blog), 30 June 2020, https://gasgrid.fi/en/2020/06/30/this-is-how-the-gas-market-opened-in-finland/.
- 66 Demerger: the separation of a large company into two or more smaller organisations, particularly as the dissolution of an earlier merger (Oxford Dictionary).
- 67 'This Is How the Gas Market Opened in Finland'.
- 68 'Gas Interconnection Poland-Lithuania (GIPL)', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www. ambergrid.lt/en/projects/gas-interconnection-poland-lithuania-gipl.

- 69 'Fortum and Gasgrid Finland Will Locate Finland's First FSRU at Inkoo Port | Enerdata', accessed 29 August 2022, https://www.enerdata.net/publications/daily-energy-news/ fortum-and-gasgrid-finland-will-locate-finlands-first-fsru-inkoo-port.html.
- 70 'Russia Cuts off Electricity Supply to Finland', WSJ, accessed 29 August 2022, https:// www.wsj.com/livecoverage/russia-ukraine-latest-news-2022-05-14/card/russia-cuts-offelectricity-supply-to-finland-tFLRxBmxZoG2C6j1SSH7.
- 71 'Fingrid: Electricity Imports from Russia to Finland', accessed 22 August 2022, https:// www.fingrid.fi/globalassets/dokumentit/fi/kantaverkko/suomen-sahkojarjestelma/ electricity-imports-from-russia-to-finland.pdf.
- 72 'Helen (Finland) Will Close a 212 MW Coal-Fired Power Plant in 2023 | Enerdata', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.enerdata.net/publications/daily-energy-news/ helen-finland-will-close-212-mw-coal-fired-power-plant-2023.html.
- 73 'Finnish Parliament Approves Russian Nuclear Plant Backing, Tying It to Moscow's Technology', Bellona.org, 8 December 2014, https://bellona.org/news/nuclearissues/2014-12-finnish-parliament-approves-russian-nuclear-plant-backing-tyingmoscows-technology.
- 74 'Finnish Ministry of Defence Calls for Risk Analysis of Nuclear Plant Project', accessed 14 September 2022, https://www.helsinkitimes.fi/finland/finland-news/domestic/20235finnish-ministry-of-defence-calls-for-risk-analysis-of-nuclear-plant-project.html.
- 75 'Finnish Firm Launches SMR District Heating Project : New Nuclear World Nuclear News', accessed 29 August 2022, https://www.world-nuclear-news.org/Articles/Projectlaunched-to-develop-Finnish-SMR-for-distri.
- 76 "I'm Always Looking over My Shoulder": Anxiety among Estonia's Russians | Estonia | The Guardian', accessed 14 September 2022, https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/ aug/22/always-looking-shoulder-anxiety-estonia-russians-tallinn.
- 77 International Energy Agency, 'Estonia 2019. Energy Policy Review', 2019.
- 78 Hannah Ritchie, Max Roser, and Pablo Rosado, 'Estonia: Energy Country Profile', Our World in Data, 28 November 2020, https://ourworldindata.org/energy/country/estonia.
- 79 'Carbon Dioxide Emissions from Electricity World Nuclear Association', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.world-nuclear.org/information-library/energy-and-theenvironment/carbon-dioxide-emissions-from-electricity.aspx; International Energy Agency, 'Estonia 2019. Energy Policy Review'.
- 80 'Commission Opinion: Certification of Elering AS', accessed 22 August 2022, https:// ec.europa.eu/energy/sites/ener/files/documents/2016\_129\_ee\_en.pdf.
- 81 'EstLink 2 Second High-Voltage Direct Current Link between Finland and Estonia', Fingrid, 27 June 2017, https://www.fingrid.fi/en/grid/construction/arkisto/estlink-2/; 'Ceremony Marks Launch of the Third Estonia-Latvia Electricity Interconnector', Text, European Commission – European Commission, accessed 22 August 2022, https:// ec.europa.eu/info/news/ceremony-marks-launch-third-estonia-latvia-electricityinterconnector-2021-aug-26\_en; 'The Third Estonia-Latvia Interconnection | Elering', accessed 22 August 2022, https://elering.ee/en/third-estonia-latvia-interconnection.
- 82 International Energy Agency, 'Estonia 2019. Energy Policy Review'.

- 83 'Third Energy Package', accessed 22 August 2022, https://energy.ec.europa.eu/topics/ markets-and-consumers/market-legislation/third-energy-package\_en; Herbert Smith Freehills LLP-Lynda Haigh, Mark Newbery, and Silke Goldberg, 'The EU's Third Energy Package: Tighter Control over Europe's Transmission Network Businesses', Lexology, 12 May 2009, https://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=ba621da2-3326-4d12-b780-51eb342059f3.
- 84 'SGD Terminalo Dujos Ir Latviams Bei Estams LRT', accessed 23 August 2022, https://www.lrt.lt/naujienos/verslas/4/115461/sgd-terminalo-dujos-ir-latviamsbei-estams.
- 85 'Short Overview of Elering | Elering', accessed 22 August 2022, https://elering.ee/en/ short-overview-elering.
- 86 'Balticconnector Gas Pipeline up and Running since 1 January 2020', Text, European Commission – European Commission, accessed 22 August 2022, https://ec.europa.eu/ info/news/balticconnector-gas-pipeline-ready-use-1-january-2020-2020-jan-08\_en.
- 87 'Balticconnector | Elering', accessed 22 August 2022, https://elering.ee/en/ balticconnector.
- 88 Miškinis, V. 'Nacionalinės energetikos komentarų parengimas. Galutinė ataskaita', 12/2007, accessed 22 August 2022, http://lsta.lt/files/studijos/2007/20\_NES\_ komentarai.pdf.
- 89 'BEMIP: Gas Regional Investment Plan 2012-2021', accessed 22 August 2022, https:// www.entsog.eu/sites/default/files/entsog-migration/publications/GRIPs/2012/GRIP\_ BEMIP\_MAIN.pdf.
- 90 'Plannings | Balti Gaas', accessed 22 August 2022, https://baltigaas.eu/en/plannings/.
- 91 LNG Prime Staff, 'Estonia's Elering Says Construction Starts on Paldiski LNG Pipeline', LNG Prime (blog), 8 June 2022, https://lngprime.com/europe/estonias-elering-saysconstruction-starts-on-paldiski-lng-pipeline/53748/; Sanja Pekic, 'Paldiski LNG Terminal in Estonia Step Closer to Completion', Offshore Energy (blog), 30 May 2022, https://www. offshore-energy.biz/paldiski-lng-terminal-in-estonia-step-closer-to-completion/; ERR | ERR, 'Paldiski LNG Terminal Works Continue on Schedule', ERR, 21 July 2022, https:// news.err.ee/1608663232/paldiski-lng-terminal-works-continue-on-schedule.
- 92 Pekic, 'Paldiski LNG Terminal in Estonia Step Closer to Completion'.
- 93 'Tallinn LNG', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.tallinnlng.com/documents/.
- 94 'Renewable Energy | Elering', accessed 22 August 2022, https://elering.ee/en/renewableenergy; 'Biomethane Subsidy | Elering', accessed 22 August 2022, https://elering.ee/en/ biomethane-subsidy.
- 95 'Implementation of Bioenergy in Estonia 2021 Update', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.ieabioenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/CountryReport2021\_ Estonia\_final.pdf.
- 96 Sten Hankewitz, 'Estonia Joins a US Nuclear Programme', Estonian World (blog), 26 January 2022, https://estonianworld.com/technology/estonia-joins-a-us-nuclear-programme/.
- 97 ERR News, 'Nuclear Energy Firm: Northeastern Estonian Plant Could Be Online in 2032', ERR, 8 July 2022, https://news.err.ee/1608652141/nuclear-energy-firm-northeasternestonian-plant-could-be-online-in-2032; 'Investorile – Fermi Energia', accessed 22 August 2022, https://fermi.ee/en/investorile/.
- 98 ERR News, 'Nuclear Energy Firm'.

- 99 'Estonia Should Reduce Its Oil Shale Reliance for Greener Growth OECD', accessed 14 September 2022, https://www.oecd.org/estonia/estonia-should-reduce-its-oil-shalereliance-for-greener-growth.htm.
- 100 'Estonia: From Shale to Gale | Airclim', accessed 24 September 2022, https://www. airclim.org/acidnews/estonia-shale-gale.
- 101 'History of Latvia: A Brief Synopsis', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www2.mfa.gov.lv/en/usa/culture/history-of-latvia-a-brief-synopsis.
- 102 'Synchronisation with Europe | AST', accessed 22 August 2022, https://ast.lv/en/projects/synchronisation-europe.
- 103 'National energy and climate play of Latvia. 2021-2030', accessed 22 August 2022, https://ec.europa.eu/energy/sites/ener/files/documents/ec\_courtesy\_translation\_lv\_ necp.pdf.
- 104 'Latvia Energy Information | Enerdata', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.enerdata. net/estore/energy-market/latvia/.
- 105 'Latvenergo: Generation', Latvenergo, accessed 22 August 2022, https://latvenergo.lv/en/ par-mums/razosana.
- 106 'Latvenergo: The combined heat and power plants of Latvenergo', Latvenergo, accessed 22 August 2022, https://latvenergo.lv/en/par-mums/razosana#tec.
- 107 'Latvenergo: The combined heat and power plants of Latvenergo'.
- 108 'European Energy Announces Its Plans to Build Latvia's Largest Solar Park to Date', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.baltictimes.com/european\_energy\_announces\_ its\_plans\_to\_build\_latvia\_s\_largest\_solar\_park\_to\_date/.
- 109 'DUJOTIEKIŲ JUNGTIES TARP LATVIJOS IR LIETUVOS PAJĖGUMŲ PADIDINIMAS (ELLI)', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.ambergrid.lt/uploads/documents/ELLI%20 lankstinukas%20LT(1).pdf.
- 110 'Balticconnector | Elering'.
- 111 'Sanctions Affect Savicka Company Itera Latvija Baltics News', accessed 22 August 2022, https://baltics.news/2022/05/28/sanctions-affect-savicka-company-itera-latvija/; '"Gazprom" Sustabdė Dujų Tiekimą Latvijai – LRT', accessed 22 August 2022, https:// www.lrt.lt/naujienos/verslas/4/1749185/gazprom-sustabde-duju-tiekima-latvijai.
- 112 'EC: On Certification of Transmission System Operators of Networks for Electricity and Natural Gas in the European Union', accessed 22 August 2022, https://energy.ec.europa. eu/system/files/2014-10/sec\_2011\_1095\_0.pdf.
- 113 'Latvijas Gāze: Values and History', accessed 22 August 2022, https://lg.lv/en/about-us/ values-and-history.
- 114 'About the Company | Conexus', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.conexus.lv/ about-company.
- 115 The process was initiated in 2007 in accordance with the Directive 2003/54/EC but first finalised in January 2015 corresponding to the Directive 2009/72/EC (Bride and Zvaigzne 2016; Meletiou, Cambini and Masera 2018).
- 116 SIA Open Systems, 'Skulte LNG: Natural Gas Storage', skultelng, 14 April 2019, https:// www.skultelng.lv/en/underground\_gas\_storage/.
- 117 'Regulation (EU) 2017/1938 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 October
   2017 Concerning Measures to Safeguard the Security of Gas Supply and Repealing
   Regulation (EU) No 994/2010 (Text with EEA Relevance)', 280 OJ L § (2017), http://data.
   europa.eu/eli/reg/2017/1938/oj/eng.

- 118 'Regulation (EC) No 715/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 July 2009 on Conditions for Access to the Natural Gas Transmission Networks and Repealing Regulation (EC) No 1775/2005 (Text with EEA Relevance)', 211 OJ L § (2009), http://data.europa.eu/eli/reg/2009/715/oj/eng.
- 119 'What Is the EU's Gas Storage Capacity?', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www. consilium.europa.eu/en/infographics/gas-storage-capacity/.
- 120 SIA Open Systems, 'Skulte LNG Terminal Highlights', skultelng, 2 April 2019, https://www. skultelng.lv/en/the\_project/.
- 121 Sanja Pekic, 'Latvia to Order Study on Potential LNG Terminal Projects', Offshore Energy (blog), 8 June 2022, https://www.offshore-energy.biz/latvia-to-order-study-on-potential-Ing-terminal-projects/.
- 122 'Building Two LNG Terminals in Latvia Is a Possibility, Says Economics Minister', accessed 22 August 2022, https://eng.lsm.lv/article/economy/economy/building-twolng-terminals-in-latvia-is-a-possibility-says-economics-minister.a466710/.
- 123 Sanja Pekic, 'Latvia's Virši to Buy Skulte LNG Terminal Stake', Offshore Energy (blog), 23 May 2022, https://www.offshore-energy.biz/latvias-virsi-to-buy-skulte-Ing-terminalstake/.
- 124 'Building Two LNG Terminals in Latvia Is a Possibility, Says Economics Minister'.
- 125 'Latvija varētu ieguldīt 30-40 miljonus eiro sašķidrinātās gāzes termināļa attīstībai Igaunijā', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.lsm.lv/raksts/zinas/ekonomika/latvijavaretu-ieguldit-3040-miljonus-eiro-saskidrinatas-gazes-terminala-attistibai-igaunija. a453177/.
- 126 International Energy Agency, 'Lithuania 2021. Energy Policy Review' (OECD, 12 July 2021), https://doi.org/10.1787/db346bb1-en.
- 127 'ORLEN Lietuva', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.orlenlietuva.lt/LT/Company/OL/Puslapiai/Terminalas-ir-vamzdynai.aspx.
- 128 'Russia Won't Re-Open Oil Pipeline, Lithuania Says', Reuters, 11 October 2007, sec. Oil Report, https://www.reuters.com/article/lithuania-russia-oil-idUKL1159854520071011.
- 129 'ORLEN Lietuva', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.orlenlietuva.lt/LT/Company/OL/Puslapiai/Naftos-produktu-gamykla.aspx.
- 130 Lithuanian Ministry of Energy, 'The Leadership of AB Lietuvos Dujos must withdraw', 08 2012, https://enmin.lrv.lt/en/news/the-leadership-of-ab-lietuvos-dujos-must-withdraw.
- 131 'Third Energy Package'.
- 132 International Energy Agency, 'Lithuania 2021. Energy Policy Review'.
- 133 Hannah Ritchie, Max Roser, and Pablo Rosado, 'Lithuania: Energy Country Profile', Our World in Data, 28 November 2020, https://ourworldindata.org/energy/country/lithuania.
- 134 'NordBalt, the Power Link between Lithuania and Sweden | EPSO-G', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.epsog.lt/en/projects/nordbalt-the-power-link-between-lithuania-and-sweden.
- 135 'LitPol Link, the Power Link between Lithuania and Poland | EPSO-G', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.epsog.lt/en/projects/litpol-link-the-power-link-between-lithuania-and-poland.
- 136 'The Seimas approves liberalisation of the electricity market, presenting new opportunities for electricity consumers', accessed 14 September 2022, https://enmin.lrv. lt/en/news/the-seimas-approves-liberalisation-of-the-electricity-market-presenting-newopportunities-for-electricity-consumers.

- 137 'Parliament Speaker: Lithuania Lagged behind Other Countries in Liberalisation of Electricity Supply Market – EN.DELFI', accessed 14 September 2022, https://www. delfi.lt/en/business/parliament-speaker-lithuania-lagged-behind-other-countries-inliberalisation-of-electricity-supply-market.d?id=90952101; 'After Contract Cancellation Controversy, Lithuania Delays Electricity Market Liberalisation', Irt.lt, 16 August 2022, https://www.Irt.lt/en/news-in-english/19/1760905/after-contract-cancellationcontroversy-lithuania-delays-electricity-market-liberalisation.
- 138 'Nuclear Power in Lithuania | Lithuanian Nuclear Energy World Nuclear Association', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.world-nuclear.org/information-library/countryprofiles/countries-g-n/lithuania.aspx#Decommissioning.
- 139 'Lithuania Electricity Generation 2020 | Countryeconomy.Com', accessed 22 August 2022, https://countryeconomy.com/energy-and-environment/electricity-generation/ lithuania.
- 140 International Energy Agency, 'Lithuania 2021. Energy Policy Review'.
- 141 Wind + Hydro + other RES + Solar (Table 1).
- 142 'Invitation to participate in a public consultation on the alternatives selected for the environmental impact assessment of wind turbines to be built in the Lithuanian maritime territory', accessed 22 August 2022, https://enmin.lrv.lt/en/news/invitation-to-participate-in-a-public-consultation-on-the-alternatives-selected-for-the-environmental-impact-assessment-of-wind-turbines-to-be-built-in-the-lithuanian-maritime-territory.
- 143 'Lithuania may become a significant link in the development and transportation of hydrogen in Europe', accessed 22 August 2022, https://enmin.lrv.lt/en/news/lithuania-may-become-a-significant-link-in-the-development-and-transportation-of-hydrogen-ineurope.
- 144 'Increasing the resilience of the power system: One of the most important energy projects is under way', accessed 22 August 2022, https://enmin.lrv.lt/en/news/ increasing-the-resilience-of-the-power-system-one-of-the-most-important-energy-projects-is-under-way.
- 145 'Žalia šviesa žaliosios energetikos plėtrai Seime priimtas "Proveržio paketas", accessed 22 August 2022, https://enmin.lrv.lt/lt/naujienos/zalia-sviesa-zaliosios-energetikos-pletrai-seime-priimtas-proverzio-paketas.
- 146 'Naujas namas privaloma saulės ar vėjo elektrinė: NT statytojai nerimauja ar pabrangę pastatai bus įperkami?', Irt.lt, 20 May 2022, https://www.lrt.lt/naujienos/ verslas/4/1699314/naujas-namas-privaloma-saules-ar-vejo-elektrine-nt-statytojainerimauja-ar-pabrange-pastatai-bus-iperkami.
- 147 'Poland: Energy Country Profile', accessed 22 August 2022, https://ourworldindata.org/ energy/country/poland.
- 148 International Energy Agency, 'Poland 2022. Energy Policy Review' (OECD, 30 May 2022), https://doi.org/10.1787/2075436d-en.
- 149 'Europe Decries "blackmail" as Russia Cuts Gas to Poland, Bulgaria | Reuters', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.reuters.com/business/energy/gazprom-says-it-halts-gassupplies-poland-bulgaria-payments-row-2022-04-27/.
- 150 Jerzy Marek Nowakowski, 'Miotacz Gazu', Wprost, 2006, https://www.wprost.pl/%20 ar/85836/Miotacz-gazu/.
- 151 Agnieszka Łakoma, 'Polska Sama Musi Zadbać O Gwarancje Dostaw Surowców', Rzeczpospolita, 2007, https://www.rp.pl/artykul/9211,76410.html.

- 152 'LNG Terminal in Świnoujście', accessed 22 August 2022, https://terminallng.gaz-system. pl/en/.
- 153 Daniel Tilles, 'Poland Doubles Size of Planned Gas Terminal Due to Ukrainian, Czech and Slovak Interest', Notes from Poland (blog), 6 June 2022, https://notesfrompoland. com/2022/06/06/poland-to-double-planned-size-of-gas-terminal-due-to-ukrainian-czechand-slovak-interest/; International Energy Agency, 'Poland 2022. Energy Policy Review', 30 May 2022.
- 154 'PGNiG Orders Regasification at Planned LNG Terminal in Gdansk Bay Poland at Sea – Maritime Economy Portal', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.polandatsea.com/ pgnig-orders-regasification-at-planned-Ing-terminal-in-gdansk-bay/; International Energy Agency, 'Poland 2022. Energy Policy Review', 30 May 2022.
- 155 Alicja Ptak, 'Baltic Pipe Connected to Polish and Danish Transmission Systems', Notes from Poland (blog), 22 July 2022, https://notesfrompoland.com/2022/07/22/baltic-pipelinked-to-the-transmission-systems-of-poland-and-denmark/; 'Baltic Pipe Project', Baltic Pipe Project, accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.baltic-pipe.eu/.
- 156 'Gas Interconnection Poland-Lithuania (GIPL)'.
- 157 'Inauguration of the Gas Interconnector between Poland and Slovakia | European Commission', accessed 29 August 2022, https://ec.europa.eu/info/news/inaugurationgas-interconnector-between-poland-and-slovakia-2022-aug-26\_en.
- 158 'Czech TSO Suspends Gas Interconnection Projects with Poland and Austria', 17 July 2020, https://www.enerdata.net/publications/daily-energy-news/czech-tso-suspends-gas-interconnection-projects-poland-and-austria.html.
- 159 International Energy Agency, 'Poland 2022. Energy Policy Review' (OECD, 30 May 2022), https://doi.org/10.1787/2075436d-en.
- 160 'Polska Spółka Gazownictwa', accessed 30 August 2022, https://www.psgaz.pl/en; International Energy Agency, 'Poland 2022. Energy Policy Review', 30 May 2022.
- 161 Nowakowski, 'Miotacz Gazu'.
- 162 'Poland to Extend Gas Tariff Protection for Households until End 2027 | Reuters', accessed 30 August 2022, https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/poland-extend-gastariff-protection-households-until-end-2027-2022-07-11/.
- 163 'Poland Wants to Halt Russian Oil, Gas on Ukraine Invasion', Bloomberg.Com, 30 March 2022, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2022-03-30/poland-to-strive-to-halt-russian-oil-gas-on-ukraine-invasion.
- 164 'Poland: Energy Country Profile'.
- 165 '[Opinion] Why Visegrad 4 Need to Get Real about Climate Change', EUobserver, accessed 24 September 2022, https://euobserver.com/opinion/145293; 'East European Countries Place Bombshell under EU Climate Policy – Energy Post', accessed 24 September 2022, https://energypost.eu/east-european-countries-place-bombshelleu-climate-policy/; 'EU Climate Deal Falls at Summit, Four Countries Wield the Axe – EURACTIV.Com', accessed 24 September 2022, https://www.euractiv.com/section/ energy-environment/news/eu-climate-deal-falls-at-summit-four-countries-wield-the-axe/.
- 166 'W Polsce Zabraknie Węgla i Będzie Bardzo Drogi? Wszystko, Co Musisz Wiedzieć GazetaPrawna.Pl', accessed 22 August 2022, https://serwisy.gazetaprawna.pl/energetyka/artykuly/8494475,wegiel-wydobycieenergetyka-potrzeby-energetyczne-gaz.html.

- 167 International Trade Administration, 'Poland Energy Sector', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.trade.gov/country-commercial-guides/poland-energy-sector.
- 168 'Congestion Management in General PSE Eng', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www. pse.pl/web/pse-eng/cross-border-electricity-exchange/general-information.
- 169 '"Polityka energetyczna Polski do 2040 r." przyjęta przez Radę Ministrów Ministerstwo Klimatu i Środowiska – Portal Gov.pl', Ministerstwo Klimatu i Środowiska, accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.gov.pl/web/klimat/polityka-energetyczna-polski-do-2040-rprzyjeta-przez-rade-ministrow.
- 170 Sonal Patel, 'Poland Secures NuScale SMR as Urgency for Nuclear Energy Ramps Up Across Central, Eastern Europe', Poland Secures NuScale SMR as Urgency for Nuclear Energy Ramps Up Across Central, Eastern Europe, 2022, https://www.powermag.com/ poland-secures-nuscale-smr-as-urgency-for-nuclear-energy-ramps-up-across-centraleastern-europe/.
- 171 'NuScale, KGHM Agree to Deploy SMRs in Poland : New Nuclear World Nuclear News', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.world-nuclear-news.org/Articles/NuScale,-KGHM-agree-to-deploy-SMRs-in-Poland.
- 172 'Rząd Liberalizuje Ustawę Antywiatrakową. Zasada 10H Będzie Zmieniona WysokieNapiecie.Pl', accessed 22 August 2022, https://wysokienapiecie.pl/72756-rzadliberalizuje-ustawe-antywiatrakowa-zasada-10h-bedzie-zmieniona/.
- 173 CMSMirage sp z o o-www.cmsmirage.pl, 'Nowi inwestorzy włączają się do gry o offshore na Bałtyku', gramwzielone.pl, accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.gramwzielone.pl/ energia-wiatrowa/107728/nowi-inwestorzy-wlaczaja-sie-do-gry-o-offshore-na-baltyku; Equinor, Polenergia, 'Projekty Wiatrowe Na Bałtyku', accessed 22 August 2022, https:// www.baltyk3.pl/; 'Trzy Kolejne Farmy Wiatrowe Na Bałtyku? Na Polskie Morze Chce Wejść Druga Największa Firma z Branży Offshore', accessed 22 August 2022, https:// swiatoze.pl/trzy-kolejne-farmy-wiatrowe-na-baltyku-na-polskie-morze-chce-wejsc-druganajwieksza-firma-z-branzy-offshore/.
- 174 CMSMirage sp z o o-www.cmsmirage.pl, 'Polski offshore potrzebuje 70 tys. specjalistów', gramwzielone.pl, accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.gramwzielone.pl/energiawiatrowa/108075/polski-offshore-potrzebuje-70-tys-specjalistow.
- 175 'Germany: Energy Country Profile', accessed 22 August 2022, https://ourworldindata.org/ energy/country/germany.
- 176 'Germany 2020 Energy Policy Review', 2020.
- 177 'Under Pressure: The Push to Keep German Nuclear Plants Running EURACTIV.Com', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.euractiv.com/section/energy/news/underpressure-the-push-to-keep-german-nuclear-plants-running/.
- 178 Frank Umbach, 'Deutsche Außenpolitik und Energiesicherheit', in Deutsche Außenpolitik: Sicherheit, Wohlfahrt, Institutionen und Normen (Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften, 2011), 370-93, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-531-93023-7\_15.
- 179 Frank Dohmen, '»Die Pipeline ist ein Stück Sicherheit«', Der Spiegel, 8 January 2006, sec. Politik, https://www.spiegel.de/politik/die-pipeline-ist-ein-stueck-sicherheit-a-66c5a5 ae-0002-0001-0000-000045280015.
- 180 Umbach, 'Deutsche Außenpolitik und Energiesicherheit'.
- 181 'Gas Transport Begins From the Lubmin Landfall', accessed 29 August 2022, https:// www.nord-stream.com/media/news/facts/en/2011/11/gas-transport-begins-from-thelubmin-landfall-facility-in-germany\_22\_20111107.pdf.

- 182 Deutsche Welle (www.dw.com), 'German Industry Defends Nord Stream 2 Gas Pipeline | DW | 24.09.2018', DW.COM, accessed 23 August 2022, https://www.dw.com/en/germanindustry-defends-nord-stream-2-gas-pipeline/a-45611911.
- 183 Welle (www.dw.com).
- 184 Deutsche Welle (www.dw.com), 'German LNG Terminal Plans Fuel Anger among Environmentalists | DW | 14.02.2020', DW.COM, accessed 22 August 2022, https://www. dw.com/en/liquefied-natural-gas-controversial-terminals-european-green-deal-climatechange-lng/a-52377555.
- 185 'War in Ukraine: Tracking the Impacts on German Energy and Climate Policy', Clean Energy Wire, 28 February 2022, https://www.cleanenergywire.org/news/ukraine-wartracking-impacts-german-energy-and-climate-policy.
- 186 'Germany: Energy Country Profile'.
- 187 'Germany's Energy Consumption and Power Mix in Charts', Clean Energy Wire, 17 June 2015, https://www.cleanenergywire.org/factsheets/germanys-energy-consumption-andpower-mix-charts.
- 188 Dieter Franke et al., BGR Energiestudie 2021 Daten und Entwicklungen der deutschen und globalen Energieversorgung, PDF (Bundesanstalt für Geowissenschaften und Rohstoffe, 2022), https://doi.org/10.25928/ES-2021.
- 189 'BAFA Rohöl RohölINFO Dezember 2021 (Rohölimporte)', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.bafa.de/SharedDocs/Kurzmeldungen/DE/Energie/Rohoel/2021\_12\_ rohloelinfo.html.
- 190 'Germany Countries & Regions IEA', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.iea.org/ countries/germany.
- 191 'Germany Countries & Regions IEA', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.iea.org/ countries/germany.
- 192 'War in Ukraine: Tracking the Impacts on German Energy and Climate Policy | Clean Energy Wire', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.cleanenergywire.org/news/ukrainewar-tracking-impacts-german-energy-and-climate-policy.
- 193 'Negative Bidding in German Offshore Wind Law Threatens Supply Chain | WindEurope', accessed 22 August 2022, https://windeurope.org/newsroom/press-releases/negative-bidding-in-german-offshore-wind-law-threatens-supply-chain/.
- 194 'The Energy Crunch: What Causes the Rise in Energy Prices?', Clean Energy Wire, 2 February 2022, https://www.cleanenergywire.org/factsheets/energy-crunch-whatcauses-rise-energy-prices.
- 195 'Germany Energy Information | Enerdata', accessed 22 August 2022, https:// www.enerdata.net/estore/energy-market/germany/; 'SMARD | The Electricity Market in 2021', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.smard.de/page/en/topicarticle/205454/206870.
- 196 'SMARD | The Electricity Market in 2021'.
- 197 'Germany 2020 Energy Policy Review'.
- 198 Energy Crisis: Are Germany's Climate Goals in Danger? | DW | 27.07.2022, accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.dw.com/en/energy-crisis-are-germanys-climate-goals-indanger/av-62615399.

- 199 Deutsche Welle (www.dw.com), 'Merkel Shuts Down Seven Nuclear Reactors | DW | 15.03.2011', DW.COM, accessed 29 August 2022, https://www.dw.com/en/merkel-shutsdown-seven-nuclear-reactors/a-14912184; 'Nuclear Power in Germany – World Nuclear Association', accessed 29 August 2022, https://world-nuclear.org/information-library/ country-profiles/countries-g-n/germany.aspx.
- 200 'Germany Leaves Door Open for Extending Nuclear Power Use amid Energy Crisis POLITICO', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.politico.eu/article/germany-leavesbackdoor-open-for-extending-nuclear-power-use-amid-energy-crisis/.
- 201 'Germany to Delay Phase-out of Nuclear Plants to Shore up Energy Security | Germany | The Guardian', accessed 4 October 2022, https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/ sep/05/germany-to-delay-phase-out-of-nuclear-plants-to-shore-up-energy-security.
- 202 'Why Germany Won't Give up on Giving up Nuclear', POLITICO, 28 April 2022, https:// www.politico.eu/article/politics-behind-germany-refusal-reconsider-nuclear-phaseout/.
- 203 Andreas Niesmann, 'Klaus Müller im Interview: Chef der Bundesnetzagentur warnt vor hohen Gaskosten', accessed 22 August 2022, https://www.rnd.de/wirtschaft/ klaus-mueller-im-interview-chef-der-bundesnetzagentur-warnt-vor-hohen-gas-kosten-IEA5UGEVPZFHLB6R37WQUAKBZI.html.
- 204 'Nord Stream 2 Is Only Solution to Situation with Gas in Germany, Bundestag Deputy Believes', TASS, accessed 24 September 2022, https://tass.com/world/1497791.
- 205 Clémence Arnould, 'Nord Stream 2, Solution to the Energy Crisis?', Energynews.Pro (blog), 19 September 2022, https://energynews.pro/en/nord-stream-2-solution-to-the-energy-crisis/.
- 206 'Europeans Divided over How Ukraine War Should Play Out, Reveals Poll | Euronews', accessed 30 August 2022, https://www.euronews.com/my-europe/2022/06/16/ europeans-divided-over-how-ukraine-war-should-play-out-reveals-poll?fbclid=IwAR3zM5 YmssNfDLM2bc74zCXqkCVGIq6UpdC4o0Huqqw-eKmNToqxdxe6BJ0.



Scan the QR code and read about the research project SECURITECH

#### DIIS · Danish Institute for International Studies

The Danish Institute for International Studies is a leading public institute for independent research and analysis of international affairs. We conduct and communicate multidisciplinary research on globalisation, security, development and foreign policy. DIIS aims to use our research results to influence the agenda in research, policy and public debate, and we put great effort into informing policymakers and the public of our results and their possible applications.

#### Defence and Security Studies at DIIS

This publication is part of the Defence and Security Studies at DIIS. The aim of these studies is to provide multidisciplinary in-depth knowledge on topics that are central for Danish defence and security policy, both current and long-term. The design and the conclusions of the research under the Defence and Security Studies are entirely independent. All reports are peer-reviewed. Conclusions do not reflect the views of the ministries or any other government agency involved, nor do they constitute an official DIIS position. Additional information about DIIS and our Defence and Security Studies can be found at www.diis.dk.





DIIS · DANISH INSTITUTE FOR INTERNATIONAL STUDIES GI. Kalkbrænderi Vej 51A | DK-2100 Copenhagen | Denmark | www.diis.dk